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STATEMENf.

: -Bernard Edglsteln 1519 Thlrd Avenue. I conduct a
tbakery at the above humbex. Sometime lasf-April,a;driver
iqfUthngégqp_QfﬁﬁgfwAgggﬁiic_YeasL,Co._came into my store,
was at that time u31ng the Vlenna Compressed Yeast.

iHe séld I come from the Atlantlc Yeat Co.,and herc is a
{samble of ocur yeast,price twenty-five ecents a pound,
:akked'mé to try some. I said, &; you want to introduce a
|new article in thé market,it ouxnt to e clhieaper thaﬁ any
body else,of have beeter goods ;the xoads I am using I
;am well satisfied with. He said:"What are you soing to

1do in ease your foreman wont use any other yeast tnan

joursew I told hlm I should.look for. somebody tﬁat woula

Vw;ﬁéétitQ He leftand went out. T pald h1m for the sample.

Crp e e

fI 112d seen this man before he used to wWOorx £or me as

|2 seccnd :rand on bread. I dont know his namerikr now but

LI

lean find him. I tried the yeas+t but it didn't suit me.
§On the eéening of the same day when my men camne around

jto work ,I asked them if anybody had spoken td} nem abougt
§

: . y
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N wanas
uas inq any otner yeast than Aw%antac yeast, they said,no.

Abmut two weeks after thls .my foreman,"hiris.Lebeyr ,

“came‘to mg_gnd to;d”me that the Atlantic Yeast was being

-huSedfe*erywhere'aédpwas%g"xarm.ggod Maast,and woulgd be

’

;beeter if we woula use it and WOuld not get into any
§trouble with the union. I told my foreman that they way

:those People wanted to set their yeast in the market was\.

:no business way;I would not like teo deal with such mene.
]

T made inquiries about the Atlanticec Yeast in any places,

everywnere 1 was toid that it was no good;people
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'had‘the veast and cave i1t up égain. About tiie wmiddle ol
May,the game foreman eouisenced to forée me to take the
vyeaste. He complained of everything;said this and that was
not satisfactoryj;and one day when he went to cleén out
the oven I heard »im say that he would like to bake all
tﬁé Jews up‘sﬁairs in that ovean. He had been working for
me for two years. On a Saturday in the lgtter rart of
Mgy the foreman and all the workmen exsept one lelt me.
Trnie one Wwiio remained waws ‘harles Grafenecker,of I67 E.85h
him I made foreman,hie is now a driver lor tlie Atlantie
Yeast “o. I ot new hanas and everythipg went aleng
smoothly untii about July. About tne miudle of Juldy,a

comunittee elaiming to represent tuewlConfectioners Union

No.7,and Rakers Union No.92,¢2me to my store,ana asked
wiiy I didm't use fhe Aylantie Yeast;you have a union
bakery ana we ﬁant you to use tiuie Atlantie Yeast;and,in
case you on't use it,we will talze every wman out of your
shop. I told him I didn't use the Atlantic Yeast for
two reasonst in the first plilace I fidn't like their weay
of Jdoing nusiness,forcing the bakers to take their yeast
throupn tuie union,and,seeond, the yeast was no good. The
eormittee said the yeast was good. I asxked tmem why I
snoutd not use the yeast I was using now. They said tnat
veast is Fleishman's Yeast,and that wés boyeotted. I told
tlaiem: I was not using Fleishman's Yeast,but was using tie
Vienna Compresses Yeast;and in case they had anything
against Fleisliman,wWwhy didg't they go against Fleisiun.an

himself;ke sells more hread in a day than I do in six

months; minety per cent of the bread sold by Fleishman
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fis4eaten by the working men,wiiy doa't'you fight him. That
'committee left,agd about a gouple of weeks later another
committee came up. The segond committee was composed of
one aston,Secretary of Confecﬁioners Union No.7,and the
':head ariver of tlie Atlantic Yeast (o.. They came around
aned wanted me to use the yeast. They said if you dox't use

the yeast you will get into lots of trouble. I said wnat

have you goit to 3o witr itj;who sent you up nere. I asked
them if they were doimg this Tor love sake to the Atlantio
Yeact Co; I told them that trney were getting a gooa salary
lana commissionr from the Atlantic Yeast Co. for getting

ltheir veast in the market. Tuaey said tuat taey hag aothing

lto witn tne Atlantie Yeast To,that they were paying their

own expenses;they were doing that oniy Secause the Atlantic_
Yeast CoOe. waé tixe only uxnion &east in New Yorka. I toia
him tniat I kmew better tnan thahjthat thhe yeast I was
1sing is just as good union yeast as the other,and it is
oniy a matter of money making;I am satisfied with =y yeast
and am goimg to use ite.

On or azbout tlie I3tl: of August,my wmen spolied mwy
yeast and =y goods. They called e down stairs,and showed

me the econdition of the yeast and goods,and I sent one

of them'out to get some more yeast. I sent Jaeob Meyer and

Ernest Wasner. Wagner came baek with. some Atlantie Yeast.
The next morming I saw Wagner and ie toldme that Mundorf

wanted me to go to his place and see what excellent bread
Atlantie Yeast made; I told nim I knew all about Atlantie’

Yeast,and didn't want to know any more about it
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MoJ .Natham,Genreral Manager of the Atlantie Yeast Co.,

ca@e into my Pplase halfi-dozen times hkhefore the =strike,in
October,and asked me to'take the yeaste. A few days be=—
fore the strike he called and said he wanted me to use
the yeaste I told him I would not do it bec®use I didn't
like their way of Joing wusiness,and didn't like their .
veast,and,at that time ne toia me that he would give me a

chance to mazke wmowey by giving me veast cheaper thian any-—

body elsce. He went awawm and said he would call againe.

After Nathamr left this time,I had several talks with

Wagner and the rest of wy workmen. Theawcorkmen were -—

Ernest Wagner,Jaeob Meyer,Charles Grafnesker,John S~ rouss

anda another @an éalleq Joee Wagner said that the major-—

ity of bakers were using the union yeast,and are aatis—‘
fied with it.,and that the bakery I953 Third Avenue was-
using it alﬁogether. I asked nhim why did they press me
so hard to use the yeast. They said,you are just the one
to have the ycast Ffirst,and If I used the yeast, they
would make the others as well. I told thém that there
were hakers using more ryeast than I,and they should try
soﬁebcdy else with that schcme..

.On the I5th of October,about twenty minutes paét
five in the evening. I come down to the storeel saw tWo
men standing around in the store. The~come up to me and

represented themselves as a committee of the Confection-—

ers and Bakers Union. I know one of the manr as August

Holtzee. He sayngr.Eidlestein,are yourmgoing to use the

)

Atlantic Yeast or not.* I says:"no sir". He says:Vvl
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declare a strike in your place;I take all the}men out Y%
He Said if I wanted to seeany of my men I could find.th;m
in 88th Street. He asked me if I wanted to knov the ad— -
dress in SSth Streets I said no sire They'tnep went out.
Holtze atbthis time ordered all my men to strike,and my
men a4idmn't come to the shop to attend to their work,and
my sponge was ruined,I had to throw it away. I advertised
for new workmen. On the next morning the representatives
of this union were stationed along the Avenue,as I supposeg
to kecep men from getting to my shop for employment,and
Wagner and Grafnecker were upon the Elevated station at.
84th Street,for the same purpose. They were driven away
from there by the policeman whowm I know by sight. The
next morning I sent for.m§>forem » Grafnecker,in order
to prevent getting into trouble with the unione. He came
to my private rooms. I says Charley,what is the reason
you strike,didn't I tell you that time that I engaged you
that you have nothing to do with my business so longaaé
I treat you right and pay your wagese. He says,IX know‘I
am wrong,only,he says,I caa't help myself;I am pushed
in it;I awm forced to do so. I asked him if those men
were going to support ypur family il you are out of works
He says,partly,XI am sorry I ever‘belonged to the union;
I skkall get out noﬁ. .
On the Iethh of October Ernest Wagner and Jacob Meyer

came to Mrs.Edelstein and demanded pay for a day's work,

she refused to gike it on the ground that they hadn't

earned- it ;and Wagner said:"VMeyer mind,we will fix you
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your little Eidlesteins;we shall ruin your business."
On the I8th of October in the evening,the janitor of
a flat in 86th Street brought me a circular,which is simid

are to the evircular markeda%Av, Liater in tiie same evening

{ titere was a shower oif <circulars from the Elevated Road,

ﬁon tite sidewalk in front of my plaee ard in my store.l

read the circulars,and they were similar +to the one
given me by the janitore Sigmund Strouse,toock the cir-—
culars to my customers. Seerr by Ward and two other wit-

nesses distributing theme.




STATEMENT
Lewis Simons,438 E.86%tk Street. On the day of the

strixe my foreman told me that there was to be a meeting

Tof tne Union on 88t Street near Thaird Avenue. He told

EEme to i;:e there about hlaf-past sour. I went thiere withh my
men that i workea with,Hersan Elwirding. When we ot there
Charles Grafnecker was there,then come Jacob Méyer,Erneét
Wagner and Augusi Holtz,the man who deeclred the strike,
and three others. Tiere we;e eleven altogethery. We held a
meeting there. August lloltze presided. Ernest Wagner

spore first. He saidthat he would not g0 to work as long

as they used that yeastj;to let the sponge go to hell. He

'

I 'dsKed UMr,Elwerding if he was willing to go to work on that
yeast}’ He said he had nothing to do with the yeasé. He
then asked me if I was willing to go on a strike. I told
him I had nothing to do with it;I work withh my memn;if
they go I 56. Thein ctaers weré asked i¥ they would strikee.
While ™altze was acting as President,Wagner proposed that
a committee of two go around and see Rdelstein to sce if
he was willins to use the Atlantie Yeast. This motion was
carried by ballot;seven in favor and ®ive against. This
conmnittee was.coméosed of Fultze and another man whose
name:I dop't know- They went and we waited for thpm to
come back. They'came back in about a quarter of an hour.

August Holtze declared z strike,and saidi"Do not go to

work men,Mr.Edelstein refuses to use tie veast." And

Ernest Wagner says:"hetbthe sponge g0 to hell.®
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John Krose,IS5I9O iﬂira-Avenue. It was instne bakery,
|the three of us together,Brnest Wagner,tharle; Grafnecker
 and Jacob Meyer .. T-e three of them told me te go there,
ﬁhaifepast two o'clockjitnere wiil he a bhakers parade;it
:will be.nice to see iﬁ. When I arrived there,the same
‘three was there,there was also several otuers itnere, I
talked with ®imon there. Tne Pirst to speak wa=s BErneet
Wapner. e wmsaia that the yeast we are working is had. I
waas given a'piece of paper and asked il I wanted to go
on strike. I saiad no,and daidn’'t aecept the paper. I neld
the paper in my nands.BErnest Wapgmer took tne raper and

jtore it ana put it on ihe table,and said I wanted fo o

{on the strike,he spoke for me. Tagner was sitting opposite

me ani one was sitting nrext to me. T Laid to the man next
jme I wouid not go on = strike. Tiiey ihvited me to Jdrinie.
Wagner or&ered beer,and I took a glass of beer. Wagner
then said that two men should be sent to Edelstein's.i
was decidéd,and tell him if he will not use the union
yeast,thet they will not work. Then they saild in Englisks:
It is five minutes to fivejtue sponge is ready,let it
go to hell. At that time I nhad about turee glasses of
I/beer- I remained sitting there.They were talking te each -
lother. I 2idn't hearwwhat they were saying. I said then
1to Brnest Wagner tha£ I wanted to go home to sleep to the
Ibaker shop. e said,you remain here;whnen I pgo home you

>will Sleep in my home. Trie next day the foreman Graf-—-

faecker,we met im the Union orfice,74th Street and ZTecond

¢

ﬁAvenue; We met there. Qraﬁnecker said tiat he knew a place
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|where I would be well satisfied to work. When we met
there at tesm o'clock,in the Union office,Ernest Wagner
lsaid that if I go back to work in the same place,that he

Jjwil) Deat me. I went away from there and didn't talk any

|more about it.-I was sitting there about six o'gloek with

Jacob Meyer,aid Wagner says;%ocay John, bomb,and dynamite,

and everythiing will hre Jdestroyed."
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City aNDp CounNtTy oF NEwW YORK, ss.

A R R N e A SOl L

Jlt tgz ﬁﬁtmnc of ﬂge :]unp[e of Igré,gtirtc of %tth). %‘]urll, .To any peace officer in

o thls State'
‘ An indictment havmo been founcl on the/ 5 % ~day of:
xsy/ m the Court of General gesls of the Peacd

County of New Yor]\, charrrm '

with the crime of!

if the CourtHave adjourned for the term, that you 1 deliver him into the custocly of the Keeper of the.

City Prison of the City of New York, or if he require it, that you take him before any Magistrate

in that County or in the County in which you arrest him, that he may give bail to answer the

lndlctmcnt.

%;ée%/;&ccr.e? Do e

Distrzct A Ltorzej.

R
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THE PEOPLE

OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

against

LB e gL




Crty AND CounTty or¥ New YORK, Sss.

Jn the 21&%: of the Feople of the State of HAew Pork, To any

this State:

+

peace officer in

LR

An indictment having been found on the. /dz 1..day of

18?/, in the Courtof: General Sessioffs of thé Peace of the City and

of New York, charging. <

with the crime of,_&MM e A W .

You are therefore Commanded forthwith to arrest the above named

~ _and bring him before that Court to answer the indictment ;
if the Court have adjourned for the term, that you deliver him into the custody of the Keeper of the
City Prison of the City of New York, or if he require it, that you take him before any Magistrate
in that County, or in the County -in which you arrest him, that he may give bail to answer the

indictment. . . W
day of . 139 /

2yr g

District A ttorney.




. THE PEOPLE
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

agatnst

- DE LAM&Q NICOLL;

—h—s—rEnrtine, -
District Attorney. did

Issued W/g%

Tl l‘&?‘?

M!lmtvva@ ;
M_ﬁé&ym&m@twt&é
p A oty

rezted a@{‘/é:uu“u..".....-.uuu :
(2 ;
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Crry aND County or NEw Yonk, sS. .

In the Fame of the :]Jmple uf tlgr b’mr nf FHely %]nr[ TS ‘any peace Sfficer-in

this State: .,;_» " S W
day of...
Isyl , in: the Court of Cx(_neral %m Peace of the City and

with. the crime of_ —22%~

e adjourned for the term, that you deliver him into the custody of the Keeper of the

City Prison of the City of New York, or if he require it, that you take him before any Magistrate

in that County, or in the County in which you arrest him, that he may give bail to answer the

indictment.

City of New York, the. /Cg ‘ E.,.r7a/l/ o "L T .1&?’/

By_order of the Ceurt,

District Aittorney.




. THE PEOPLE

OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

S ey

agatnst

Ty T

3 b LAY 2

Beneh Wareant for Misdenteanor,

Bt o T

‘DEYLANCEY NICOLL, . -
Ra = ine,
B Districe Attorney.

.:7 9 . . A‘":A.-:
" Issued M/e 185;/,-
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POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

= mescaceer e F

“ne—five-of -these-vermins * were - kiled by —a-~workman--in-}

tiovus acc coempoll :
in“general under- what clrcumstalrces and "in what
m:serab'le localities :

Benj. Edelstem,
' No.1519 THIRD AVE,

betsveen S5thh and S6thh Street,

has his baking done and which are sold in his store to

the public.

It is very unpleasant for us to bring these dis-
closures to the notice of the public, but in accordance
with our conscience and principles we cannot leave
these facts unknown any longer, because we would
therefore become assessories t6 the crime which the
‘above ba.ker-boss commits ‘every day. It is not our

fault:tha such mlsera.ble condltlons emst in this shop,'

e

ployed the

X 1t - avail,’ ag’ the . a.varxce_:b»
) aﬁ mea.nness of M. Edelsteln woéuld not allow him to

better them. Therefore cur members, who were em-

‘ployed in this shop, were forced to quit, and deem it

their duty to make the following known to the public:

- 1) Our members have refused to use such lard
for the baking of bread, rolls, cake, &c., as Mr. Edel-
stein has lately furnished them with, for the articles
for which this lard is used gave forth such a wvapor
that our eyes hurt and we could hardly breathe.

2) Since the bake-room has been in use it has
never been thoroughly cleaned; the ceiling and walls
look like a smoke-house and are filled with vermin.
The open water closet, which is situated about seven

feet from the bake-trough, also gives forth a most
horrible stench.

3) The workmen, employed by day as well as by
night, are also greatly bothered by the numerous rats,
In the night from the 138th to the 14th of this month,

self-defence .

4) Furthermore, thére was such a poor quality of
yeast used, that it was impossible to produce good
goods, therefore the introduction of Atlantic Yeast,

.. which is ‘well-known to be the best, was insisted upon.

The above mentioned facts are not exaggerated,

_but are rather too mildly given, which we can prove

by witnesses.

The Committee

- Of Confectioners® Union No. 7 & Bakers’ Union No. 92.

- in n}e[cﬁe). Qotalitit

An das Publthum!

ey Thafiin

be gegwungen, fehen bdie unterzeidyneten
1-gezwungen; die-Bewobucr diefer Stadt
w zu madjen, unter weldjen Umftdnber und

"‘Al' : \n.u'. L

BVenjamin Ehelftein

bie Badwearen Gerftellen [aft,

MNo. 1519 Dritte TUvenue,
swifdien 85. & 86. Sir.

bte in feinem Stove,

an bag Publifum verfauft werdben. Es8 ift ins unangenehm tm
piditen Grabe, mit diefen Enthiillungen vor dbag Publifum zu
treten, aber wir fonnen e8 nidit linger mit unferem SGewiffen
b unjeren Prinjipien in Eintlang bringen, diefe ThHat{adjen
nodj ldnger zu verfd)weigen, bdenn ivir wiicben dadburd
gewiffermafien 3u Mitjchulbigen an dem Verbredjen werden, -
weldjes bder obengenannte Viicferbo tiglicd) begeht. Nidht
unfere SHuld ift es, daff folde Mifwirth{daft in diefem
Shop Lerefdit, demn unfere iRttqheber f)aben, fo Tange fie
bm:t Befd;afttqt mm:en, ftet in ihrem, fmme im Qntereffe bes
1he Nﬂm SRad. n”“r“fyr"-*nk Sock ffr‘

® z:n? e .\\m* ":-‘i
N . »

| “Peren & L,beutem;ev:laubten netme[ben ntdjt, let;dfe ,u i d)aﬁen. .

‘IDeBE;aIB feI)en fidy uniere Miitglieder, die in diefem ShHop
arbeiten, gegwungen, bie Arbeit aufzugeben und Folgendbes

- bem Publitum ju unterbreiten :

1) 2Weigern unfere Mitglieber fid), eine foldje Sdut
Qard, bdie Herr Chelftein in letsterer Beit fitr die Herftellung
von Brod, Fol8, Kudien und Cafes lieferte, 1reiter zu
perbaden, weil die Sadjen, zu bdenen diefed RLard benutst
wuvrbe, beim Baden einen foldlen Dunft abgaben, bdal
uns bie Yugen jdymerzten und das Athmen erfdjwert wirbe.

2) Das fehr dlecht ventilirte Badhausd ift feit deffen
Benuzung nod) nie einer griindlidien RNeinigung unterzogen
tworden, dbie Dede und Winde bdeffelben gleidjen denen einer
Raudyfamnter und wimmeln von Ungeziefer. Wnfer-
pem verpeftet dbas offene Water Closet, iveldjes fid) civca
7 §uf vom Badtrog~ entfernt befindbet, die Quft inm unbe-
{dhreiblidiem Ptaafe.

8) TWerben die Arbeiter, bei Tag forwohl wie bei Nadyt,
fortwdhrend von den fehr jahireiden Natten aui’s Sdhlimmite
ﬁeihfttgt. S‘n bet Nadit pom 13. — 14. bdiefed Pionats

“Yoltvber BOR T einen Buder 5 foldfie Ungeziefer in Selbfts T

vertheidbigung erlegt.

4) Ferner wurbe cine Sorte Hefe geliefert, mit weldher
die Arbeiter nidht im Stande waren gute Waave Herzuftellen,
we@halb die Ginfiihrung der Wtlantic Peaft, bdie algemein
als gut befannt ift, geforbert wurbe.

Die oben angefithrten Thatfadjen find eher zu milde ge-
fdhilbert, al8 iibertrieben, und find wir im Stande, diefelben
purd) Beugen gu erhirten.

Das Eomtite
per Confectionerd-Huion No. ¢ und Biider-nion No. 92,

L
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fOURT OoF GENERAL\SESSIONS OF THE PEACE

Of the Clty and County of New York..

-Against
jérnst Wagner,August Holtz,Jacob
heyer and Sigismund Strauss

e e e e o e e K
THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,
'by this 1ndlctment accuse Ernst Wagner, August Holtz,

Jacob Meyer and Sigismund Strauss of tne ecrime of con-
gepiracy,committed as follows: ‘
vThe said Ernst Wagner,August Holtz,Jacob Meyer and
jSigismund Strauss all late of the City and County of Wew
York aforesaid,being evil disposed persons)together with
;iivers other evil disposed persons Whese names are to the
13rand Jﬁry éforesaid uﬂknown,uﬁlawfully,wickedly and
maliciously.designing-and intending by force,threats and

intimidation to prevent and hinder one Bernard Edelstein

;from using and exercising his lawful trade and calling

jas a bakey)whlch he then and there used exerclsed and

o - ;
.

icarried on in a certain house and bakery there situate,

fhaving and employing i the carrylng on of his sald law—

trade and calling divers journeymen and workmen in
he said trade and calllng,on the rourteenth day of

‘Lord one thousand eight hundred

County_aforesaid,unlawful;y,

ettt 0 5




(=)
wickedly and maliciousily aid conspire,combine;confederate

and agree together between and amongst themselves,by

; force threats and 1nt1m1dat10n to prevent and hinder him

i

the said'Bernard Edelstein from using and ekeréising his
(S . -
said lawful trade and callinge.

And the said Ernst Wagner,August Holtz,Jacob Meyer

_and Sigismund Strauss)together with the said other evil-~

disposed rersons in pursuance and furtherance of and
according to the said'conspiracy,combinatiog,xxi con—
federacy and agreement betﬁeen and amongst themselves as
aforesaid,afterwards,to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid,at the‘city and Qounty aforesaid,did uniawfully,
ﬁickedly and maliciously threaten the said Bernard
Edelstein to cut off and entirely e#clude him from all
intercouse and'dealings in the way of buying and selling,

and to shun him at all times and in all Places,and to

subject him to annoyance,injury and logs in the pursuit

of his said lawful trade and calling;and tB”entirely

ruin and destroy the bﬁsiness of him the sa2id Bernard

Edelstein,unless he the said Bernard Edelstein would use
in his said business and for the purposes;thereof a
certain yeast known as."Atlantic Yeast.h

And the said Ernst Wagner August Holtz Jacob Meyer
and Sigismund Strauss together w1th said other evil—
disposed persons in the further pursuance and furtherance

of and accordlng to the sald consplracy,comblnatlon cen—

federacy and agreement between and amongst themselves as.

‘aforesaiq,afterwards,to wit: on the day and in the year




S

(3) \\,_/_"\.N; - : ™ .

aforesaid, at the Clty and County £forééa1d unrawfully,
\\/‘\

'-W1ckedly and mallclously by watching and besettlng~;ﬁ‘\a
saiad housg and bakery of the said BernardAEdelstein and

by divers threats threatenlng notlces placards hand—b:lls
\ .

and printéé\clrculars and. also by sollcltatlons sflase-

- .

hoeds znd persua31ons did attempt and endeavor to ine-
timldate the said;g;rngrd Edelsteiq)and divers otherﬁ
Persons whose names aré to the Grand Jﬁry-aforesaid
unkhown,wpo.were then desirous of trading and doing
business with the said Bernard Edelstein,énd did thereby
attempt and endeavor to Prevent and deter the said rer-—
' sons from so‘trading aﬁd doing business with him. |

And the said Ernst VWagner, August Holtz,Jacob Meyer

—

and Slglsmund Strauss w1th the said other evil disposed
persons 1n the further Pursuance and furtherance of and
;ccordlng to the said conspiracy,combination,confederacy'
and agreement between and amongst themselves as afefo-
said,afterwards,to wit: on the day and in the year afére-
said,at the City and County aforesaid,unlawfully,wicked—-
"ly and maliciously)by Sso watching and besetting the saié
house and bakery of the said Bernard Edelstein,and by-
the éaid threats,threatening notices,placards,hand~bills
and printed circulars aforesald and by .so attemptigg,
endeavoring and intlmidatlng “the sald Bernzard- Edelstein
.and the s;i&”;ergons belng S0 de81ous of tradlng ‘and
doing bu31ness with the said Bernard Edelstein,and to

Prevent and deter the said persons from 80 doing,and alseo

by divers other threats and by intimidation and by other

subtle and,indirect'means,and by divers deviceg_

‘e




(4)

stratagems and unjust and eppresive acts,did greatly

harass,annoy,impgde,embarrass and obstruct the said
Bernard:Edelstéin in the usé and exercise of his said
'lawfui.tradeland-calling,to wit: for the bettef carrjing
the said cénsplracy,comblnatlon confederacy and agree—'
k'ment into effect and execution; against the Ionn of the

statute in such case made and provided,and against the

. I3

peace ST the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.
SECOND COUNT.

And the Grand Jury aforesaid,by this indicetment,fur-—
ther accuse the said Ernst Wagner,August Holtz ,Jacob
Meyer and Sigismund Strauss of the crime of coercioﬁ,
committed as follows: - \

The said Ernst Wagner,August Holtz,Jacob Meyer and
Sigismund Strauss all late of the (City and “ounty afore-—
said,afterwards,to wit: on the day and in. the ysar aforé—
éaid, at the City and County aforesaid,with=a view to
compel ings the said Bernard Edelstein to use in his said
lawful trade and calllng and for the purposes thereof
o el e R }3~‘k~uvf°Ji"cxxx»,;x~b WA St
to wit: in the making of bread and other artlcles.m?de
by him in his said house and bakery,the same being an
"act which he the said Bernard’Edelstein then had the o
1egalmr1éht to de or abstain from d01ng at hlS own free
will and pleasure,with force and arms,did unlawfully and
wfoﬁgfuily'attempt the intimidation of--him the said

' Bernard Edelstein by threats; against the form of the
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DESCRIPTION

Wah, Lee

 DATE:

- 03/23/91

M




FOLDER
o 3988
| DESCRIPTION

Bill, Jim

. DATE:
| ‘ 03/23/9 1

3988




432
FOLDER:
3988
~ DESCRIPTION:

Wing, Lee

~ DATE:
- 03/23/91

3988

o
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Police Court _District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and @Iimmtg . I
of Pew ok, }”’ € Z : VZ4 W
of” Ho. 2 q . Hlreet, age

d&pases and says, that on the iy { ¥

o

£
Covehol.. Vrioeq o2 /Z MM """"""

7 7~
73%7{57

s C

: .itﬁ.et_z;ro,‘17e'7jdy qf/
Co. oeel Qei™ o Afone T CTol =

and that this deporent

kas a prodable caus@,‘{and does sus/veot,/%tid propeytly poas feloniously taken, stolern an
v cqm’éd away by M A/%\ c “,. y -
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olice Court, . 2 pisgrice. ﬁ,j T
- City and Cownty , N il . ﬁ o
. of New York, - [t e

é AL Street, aged, years,
, 1 < being duly swormn, deposes and says,

1885 at the Oity of New




/ District Police Court. o

“ See, ig's‘—"zoo

v S e

belnfr -duly examined before the under—
ned acco1d1no' to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h A/Onght to
ake a. sta%nent in relation to the charge against- h 4 ; that the statement is deswnedébo

s
enable h if he . see fit to answer the charge and expl'un the facts alleged against h

that The at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h < waiver cannot be uScd
on the trial. : :

2N \ fis. youxr nqmm
Cs . 7 N ( ~ 5; [

h ¢

against

ey Question. _Where wefe fou bor?
N S 2.
Answer. L (BT

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided. there ?

Answer. M

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer.

Question.» Give mmﬁon you thlnk T)roper of the circumstances appearing in _the ..
: . . testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

gzl

/ivﬁ |




/ District Police Court.

Sec. 198—200. . S oyl

- CITY AN QUNTY . ' ~ :
OF -NEW—FOR K, V . .
Aot ..being duly examined before the undex-

secording to law, on W}:ed charge ; and bei g informed that it is h C—oright to
make w—statement in relatio the charge against ~h ; that the  statement is designed, to =
enable h- M if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against 1%'

© that he g at liberty to w_aive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be ufed i
against h “t~_on the trial.

| Question. What is your name ?
| Answer Z %/‘/\7&6 g

Question~"How Sid are yvou % -

PR Answer. ] ';ly . ,
Question. Where wepe Fott borR 7
Answer. - ottt o

‘Question. Where do you liv 2, and how long have you resided there ? ' ] -

Answer. /4/? %

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. @M&_q

L - ) Question. Give any explanation you -may tlék proper of the circumstances appearing in the .
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

I ' exculpation ?

— — =7
T ’ //U //L//(/) /;/ ////’///C/’C""

Answer.

,

N
!

Jo fiop
._....‘..S.Z,’” o 9,&0’[2)9 ijlvlz.
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* Sec. 199200, ) - R : e e . District Police Court.

being duly examined before the wunder-

signed a,ccordlnn' to law, on the dnnexed chzurre ; and being informed that it is 'h b right- to
make a statement in relation the chfx,rme against hizz ; that the statement is designed to-

enable Ih

“that he

against

if he see fiY to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
is at liberty to waive making a sta,tement and that h e«——=waiver cannot be usod :

n 42

_Answer

. Question.

How old are you ?

| Amnswer.

W%ﬂ

Questz’on.

Answer.

Where were you born ?

-

. AL
Where do you live, and how long have you resided there 2

Question.

Answer.

jaf Pz A WP 6 DtrriiB

Question.

r business or profession ?

Answer.

ZLr _//Z%JZ‘/JL/

Give any explanation you may_ thinlkk proper of the circumstances appearing in the

Question.

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpa,tlon ’Q }

. , _-_}.\ e . "
. kM N e e

" = Wkéw
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It appea,rin_g‘ to me by the within deposztz,ons arnd statements that the crime therein mentioned has been'

the u,z,tkzn ramed

ot ad o P

97 be admitted to bail Ln the swm of

commitied, and that there is sufficient ese to Deli

eof, I order that “he be held toanswer the same and ;

.% Jundred Dollars.
the City Prison, of the City of New York, until ¢ h

Dated %M//L{‘%___ i / 18 & >

‘I have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the underiaking liereto annexed.

;

,})_a,ted v //I‘% / 18 //

TTeere Deing no sufficient cause to believe the within ramed

to be discharged.

_Euilty of the offence wiihin mentioned. I order N

Police Jiwstice,




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY

OF NEW YORK.

TEE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW Yorg,

against
= Ny , S SO

T THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this® — =
indichment, aceuse Sy, oo~ SNoSww, S, Smlos.

of the crime of s PP NI PNRN, P RN SO,

@&WMWMMW\)

committed as follows:

~

the City .of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

. ’ day of . in the year of our Lord omne thousand
'__———‘___W‘ .“.,.,M,,,, L e [ S

eight hundred and ninety

» at the City and County aforesaid,
—_— s J ]

&










- BOX:
432
FOLDER:

- 3988
- DESCRIPTION:

Walker, William

DATE:
03/10/91

.
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Police Court ’ TR B ) ~ict. . Afiidavit—Larceny.

Gity and Gounty .
of Wew Work, }15 &3

?f__.,,ﬂ'ﬂ- e . o Freet, age

”
occupation.......... _ % being a?uZ_? swarn,

deposes and says, that on tﬁeb‘c ___________ day o Ko €75 7\ 189 f at the City a_/' Hew Zork,

. z/ e ?ounty of Hew Zork, was _/'eionwus?y Iahm, sz‘oZen and carried-tway Jfrom the possessicn of Jeponent i

and thai this deponent

kas a probable causV%fand. does sus/veot,/%zid propeyly poas felontowsly taken, siolen an .
carried away 5_5/ M c ‘\: y .
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_District Police Court.

S bec. 198——-200
o

LITY A D COUNTY
¥ OF NEW YORK, .

zé% a/""\ W M\ being duly examined before the under-
s1gned a,ccordlnfr to law, on the annexed cha,rfre 5 -and being informed that it is  he< - right to
"make a sta,tement in relation to the charge against h -~ ; that the statement is desm'ned to
enable hva'\- if" he seée fit to.answer the charcre and explain the facts alleged against h,-a——
that he - is at hberty to waive making a statement, and that h 5 . waiver cannot be used

against hM on the ‘trial. e oy

SS. . .

|~ Qeuestion W hat 'is_vrmr name.?

___Questzon._ﬂom old_are vmlf
Ans'wer. s /g

Quesition. _ﬂhenmexe_mu_born ?
Answer. % 4/7—%

Whele do. you live, and how lono- have you resided there ?

YA A’W— N &W

Questz’on. What is your bus1ness or profession ?

; 1 i ou_ma thmk_perer_of_the c1xcumsi;a.nces_;_a¢ppearin°;_jn__ﬂle_-

Question. Give any explanation
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to youz

exculpatlon 2

Aﬁ's%é‘é'r_-x; /\ /;7)/ &d % ﬁf/éw/’//%

Answer

Question.

Answer.

ung

17 m%wfsq ‘

89
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TE appearing {o me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

commitied, arnd that there is suffiei .en;cpase to Zzel_igve the within nancd

: 7 : . .
he be admitted o bail in the swmn of

éuilh ereo}", I order that e - be held to answer the same and
/ ...... - Hundred Dollars, ) and be committed to the Warden ard Keeper of

Ne’z Yorl, until  he

the City Prison, of the City of
Dated %&C/( /-—» zgﬁ/ -

- T hdve admitted the~d7mve-named

to bail to answer by tlhe wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Juwstice.

8

Dated.

_...’I'hé)'é_ being no éuﬁicient cawse to Lelieve the within named..
v - tobe discharged.

Luilty of the oﬁénce within mentioned.

Police Jwstice.
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIOJNS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK. : .

Tue PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YorRE,

.. against

WWW

e s o e e e e s ot - ettt e e

.- THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUNTY: OF NEW YORK, by
thzs 1ndzctment accuse

of the CriME or GRAND L/&RCENY IN THE W DEGREE,

commltted as follows:
The said MMW W‘»

late of t@y of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the 4 <2/ %

« in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

- o>~ at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the

- time of the same day, d1ve1s promissory notes for the payment of money, being
then and there due and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury
Notes), of a ‘mumber and denomlna,tlon to the G‘rla,nd J u.ry a:Eoresa,ld unknown for the

day of °

,.,ﬁayment_.ofwand_ oﬁ.the_zralue

" dollars ; divers other Ppromissory notes for the pa,ymeﬁt of rﬁoney, being then and there due
and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and denomination

dollars ; divers United States Silver Certific of a number and denomination to the Grand
AN

Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value of
—_ /V_M — —

do]laré; divers Uﬁitéd States Gold Certificates of a number and denomination to the
Grand Jury aforesaid, unknown, of the value of — /W

P

dollars ; divers coins of a numbef, kind and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid

unknown, of the valuew wx M%ﬁ\/o w

¢ -Of t-he\go'ods, chagtels and, personal property of -ene <X G/% &
. W W s {) then and there being found,

‘then a.nd there felomously did. steal, take and ecarry away, against the form of the
.Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity. .
‘DE LANCEY NICOLL.
IEEN R RO RRE

Hl

District A llorney.




432
FOLDER:
. 3988 '
DESCRIPTION:

Weichselfish, Herman

DATE:
03/13/91

e
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Police Court District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and ('I;'umity} ad 2 ‘
o Bew Yok, ‘ .ﬁ/{ g ' ‘
= Coonor : '

o o T L W s et LL o

A ) OGO oL years,
eccupatéon /% /6—74 % Lz e : being duly sworn,
deposes and says, that on the Ké day o M 1897 a%qf Weu}c gfﬁ,\

e

n the County of Hew Zork, was Jeloniowsly taken, stolen and carried away frem the possessicn /\f deponent, in

: and thai this deponent

kas a probabdle causmﬁat the z'aZ! property was feloniously ilaken, stolern and
aa%y 6_{\ - %(/%W WW

D o A - L o i A L
....................... e /{L//WM//::Z/’ s e T e - J—_'f

m.




District Police Court.

. <y being duly examined before the .under-
w; on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is right to

make a stutement in relation to the charge against ,h/L;vL\; that the statement. is designed to
enable heez,’ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against hZ., |

that he

is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that waiver cannot be used

against h“%*  on the trial.

Question. What is yonr name. ' '
_ A I )

Question.

Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer
Question.
Answenr,

Questior.

Where do you live d how long have you resided there ? .

‘What is_yoyr business or profession 2
At

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation 2 :




o100 8010

/14
‘}Z{/‘%_

R LR

“PupaIg
1900

St e ._.__,..—,.,_ S o SRS Y

_{f'li appearzng to me by tihe 'wzﬁz,zn depositions and statements that the crime therein, entioned %eas been i
- . commiitted, and that t7ze7'e is sufficient cause to believe the within named W

&

—
A

Hundred Dollars,

the City Prisgp, of the City of IVew York, until 7he

W/Ry/

A

I have admitted the above-named

tov bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated : 188

There being no suﬁcz’eni‘ cause to believe the within named.

guilty of the offence within mentioned. I order 7% to be discharged.

Police Justice.

188




'.l

COURT OF  GENERAL SESSIONS. OF THE PEACE, OF THE OITY AND COUNTY

OF NEW YORK.

A
Ao

S

Tie PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW Yorxk,
against

N N

P e e e e

THE GRAND JURY OF TH ITY AND. COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by
this indictment, accus WM

of the CRIME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE DEGREE,

conmitted as follows: . .
The said MW

late of thg City of New ork, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the I %

day of - the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
< —d27& , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in the

time of the same day, divers promissory notes for the payment of money, being
ere due and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury
" Notes), of a number and denominaiti 0. the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, for the

\3/ZLZ payment of and of the value of » —_—

" dollars ; divers other promissory notes for the ent of money, being then and there due
and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes), of a number and denomination
to the Grand Jury aforesai unkno n, for the payment of and of the value of

Grand Jury- aforesaid unknown, of the value of

dollars ; divers coins of a number, kind and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid

unknown, of the value of—

of the goods, chattels, and personal ’ 5 2 X ZZ_.{/
%ﬂw a w Rz cA - , there being found,
- m/here felonjously ddid ste take and carry away, ‘st the form of the
Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State
.of New York and their dignity: ' : :
. = DE LANCEY NICOLL,

TN R R EOWS, —District Atlorney.




BOX
- 432

FOLDER:

4 - 3988
_ DESCRIPTION

Weiss, F redenck

DATE:
- 03/10/91

T




]

RALIOY P53




' ".E"olice Court—LDiétfict.
@ity and Connty }ss .
of et Pork, "

of No. 2’7 / e » y . years,

being duly sworn

Sm,-s

occupatz'on

n the C'ety and Countg/ aforesaid, the sauZ bew?g a. 6(4 it B e

' aﬁnl whick was occupridld by deponent as a

N LoD G St a2 LS

were BURGLARLOUbL X enter e(Z by means of for czl)ly

P R Ny /(A oot oe. o P,

day qu 18?/292 the

the pr‘operty of’ A y L <ot %‘_/ %

. and deponent Jurther says, that he has great cause to believe, and does belicve, that the aforesaid
L.




e%..

-fig papog

1og $ Joynnjap v popuang

1410

iy

‘awasbopy

o
(o=
=]

Lxei3ang

40 INIVIAROD 3HY, NO
93 ‘4T408d AHL

JOSK( ~—— 1100} EOTOT.




‘Sce. 198200, " R e ' : .District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY } is.
OF NEW YORK,

:;m M M e A being duly examined bef01e the under-
surnocl according to law,’ on the annexed charge ; and belnﬂ' informed that it is h-wo right to
make a statement in rela,mon to tlie ‘charge a,rra.lnst h ~~— ; that the statement is designed to

enable h A~~~ if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h,-_,-7.
that he’ 1s at liberty to waive m;Lklng a statement, and that h.d waiver cannot be wused

‘against 11 —~ on the trial. : . .

Question Wha t_ls..yo'l:u_na.mp 2

7(“&(“4&/{ WM

Qe Q&Z_’IZQZ&._H\OA\LQld_ are_yomn.?
Answer. o / W
/

Question. Where were you born ?

Amnswer. /%M/VV\ 4/14/'-7 ' o

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?
Answer. 2A0 7 é)@f? /= W cé Mé

Question. "What is your business or profession ¢ o

Answer. ﬂa’n/ 'm___ o . —

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

. : : e;-:culpatmn? . -

_answer. S M%ZOL‘M a__fued S P~
ﬂ/;\ K Wf /2223~ L .

,Z::/ W%ﬁ

A7nswer.

o fiop’

240409 uayn ]

‘./z%

81
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Tt appearing {0 1 by the within depositions ancd statements that the erinve therein menticned lvas been
. :

comnitied, and that there is sufficient cawuse to belicve the within nanud

be admitted to bail in the sum of

e bellveld to answer the same aﬁd he

'ilt_y thereof, I order that
' and be comwmiitted to the Warder and Keeper of

wndred: Dollars,. S
the City Prison, of the City of New York, until. he

Dated : ‘ : /7 z 8?/ Police Justice.

T have admitted the abbve-namcrl

to bail to' answer by the undertaki;bg lereto annexed.

Police Juwustice.

8

ng'si'a"jﬁcient _cqusé to Lélieve the igithin named

to be discharged. .

Swilty of the offence within mentioned. T order I

Poli¢a Justice.

oy

T

o .




Gourt of Grueral Sessious of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORE.

THE PREOPLE OF THE STATE or NEW YORE,

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the CrIME oF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows:

AN -

The said » /M

late of theW Ward of City of New York, in the County of New York
aforesaid, on- day of in the year of our Lord. one

thousand elght hundred and » with force and arms, in the
time of the sameday, at the Ward, Clty and County aforesaid, the

N

there mtuarbe felomously and bnrglanously dld break into and - enter, with intent to

commit some e therein, to wit; k intent, the_‘ goods, chattels and personal property
of the said -
welling house then and there being, then and

in ¢t

there :Eelomously and burglanously to steal, take and carry away, against the form of
the Statute in such ‘case ma.de and provided, and agalnst the peace of the People ‘of the

State.of New York and their d1gn1ty AQ,@




BOX:
432 -
~ FOLDER:

3988
| DESCRIPTION:

"~ White, Grace

- DATE:
03/18/91

-
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Police Oourt : District. Aflidavit—Larceny.

@ity and Qb’mmt A

nf Wew egurk, §55: (K artoo ﬁﬂm

o o Freet, aged......... Qjé ..... years,

occupation being duly sworn,

189 / at the City of Hew Zork,

n the Gounty of Hew Zork, was Selondously taken, stolen and carried away frem the peossessicn of deponent, in

ke .,nro,va.rly of. W

and that this deponert

kas a prodable cause, to suspect, and does suspget, that the said property was foloniousl ly taken, stolen and

cari awy ty Ak )M (rardine) fn e e dmon. Tt~
N  Pacclin y e ﬁ44 % W
WM LA M. . 4m/.4%
M/ML;?-’“ " A% W/VWM o QA
4 At — W«d/\
M«G(m ..............

MWLM/%XA/M«/‘WJ’/MA'
Wd@MMfAWA,/(MM @M

Mmofazz/éy/ ’WAM?ZMLZEM
________________________ #z;ch'f 0. Med...alee Lol L  plyl ondd
"’PP%V\_“~M-% W MM'\M
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Sec. 108—200. .. - » , ' _/- District Police Court.

ND COUNTY
W

YORK, 8.

being duly examined before the under-
signed a0001d.1ng to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is right to -
.make a statement in relation to the charge against - I t the statement is desighed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explzun the facts alleged against .

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h _ waiver cannot be used

against h ==_on the trial.

—_Question. What is ir name?

Answer..

Question.

Answer. | % ‘ W

ngls'z}’_z'gn Whele werexon born?

Ans'we'r

Questzon. ‘Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Question. What is your busuxess or profession %2

Anszoer.

_ Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

o ) ‘against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

‘exculpation ?

iy
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W

I& appearing lo me by the within depositions and statetnents that the erimme therein mcn ticrned lnas been

commitied, and tliat there is sufficient cause to believe the within reanvd .

D MV/—""

A’uzlty thereof, I arcler that Nee be heu{;o answer the same and he be admitted 1o bail in the sumnt of'
é’uwﬂundred Dollars . and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the Czty Prison, of the City of New Yorl, until ‘ i1 steel Dail.

Dated. %M / = = 189 4 : - Police Justice.

I have a,clmbtted the .above-rn. amerl

to I)zul to answer by the underta]cuz,a‘ lvereto anrnexed.

Dated... ; — 18 . : Police Justice.

There being no éuﬁ’icient cause to Lelieve the within named

Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order . to be discharged.

Police J nstice




COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, OF THE CITY AND CGUNTY
"OF NEW YORK. '

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YoRrx,
: B - AN
5

against

. 5,

'THE GRAND JURY OF THE MTY AND GOUNTY OF IW- YORK, by
this indictméﬁt, accuse | -/Z_M,(_/ [ O & . e
CRIME oOF GRAND LARCENY IN THEW DEGREE,

itted as follows

" The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the / o2 %
day of_w in the year of our Lord one thousand ei"g'fht hundred and
P =, - o wb, at the City and County af\ofesaid, with force and arms, in the
—Ttime of the same day, divers promissory notes for the payment of money, being
then and there due and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as United States Treasury

e Notes), of a numbei' and denomination he Grand Jury aforesaid unly own, for the
% zé.p,!}payment of and of the value of e v W 4 zjzwo

being then and there due
of a number and denomination

dollars ; divers other promissory notes for fhe pPayment of money,
and unsatisfied (and of the kind known as Bank Notes),
to:the Grand J aforesaid wunknown, for the ent of and of the .value of

iy e R4 . Qo ol
dollars ; divers United States Silver Certificates of a number an g to the Grand
Jury aforesaid unknown, of the value ofones %MW }'ﬁ( - .

dollars ; divers United Sta.tgs Gold Certificates of a number and dénomina ion to the
Grand Jury'aforesaid unknown, of .tﬁe\ value of O‘W&Wv_/ Cc [ %.,é

E

dollars ; divers coins of a numb y kind and denomination to the Grand Jury aforesaid
unknown, of the value % : % wu,Z&bu
]

of the goods, chattels and Personal property of one _
— - —— then and there being found,

then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against ‘the form of the
Statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity. _ Q , M
L : . o '~ T 5 Dishrict Ai&or-neg/.




FOLDER:
- 3988
- DESCRIPTION:

- Whittaker, Joseph
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CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK, S-

aged

=z <

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o

N A

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ cwn

knowledge. - . %

Sworn to befor tkzs

day ofa..

Police .Justice.

T R A e




Police Court— %istrict.
@ity and @Dnnntg% . 4 o . '

of Fetw Pork, ‘
- of No. Z = (7% - - Street, aged
occupation C//‘(M%_,,—

- deposes and says, that the premises No. 2% =

in the City and County aforesaid the said being a....c

and which was occupied by deponent as a MG’

%fu)ﬁwﬁ there was at thg,time o human being, by name .
//Jé{m
/G—LARIO USTLY entered by means offm oibly S -

/ /f o o
on the 18&in the

?mmq Drop eloniously taken, stolen, and ca; ried awdy, viz:
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Istrict,
Magistrate.

-~

E’..if;c., g

t’ --:,'“".'.
... L0 anster General Sessions.

., on.the complaing of

STg pROPL

W
ot )

o]

A

Witnesses,

| Palife Cour
o,




au-240 foq wiyn]

I
i

District Police Coqi‘t,"”

according to law, on the ann_exed)zh/arge, and béing-informed that it is 1 right to make a

statem_e\nt in relation to the charge against bt e~ that the statement is designed to enable
Maen_if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against hCa—<—_that
he is\at liberty to waive making a statement, and thgt he__—5 waiver cannot be used against
he~—_ on the trial,

Question. What i
Answer. .

Question. '.How old are you ?

Answer. ' : / -

Qz:estz'on. Whére were you born ?

Amnswer, : ) _ —~——

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

[dneer. TG 7

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Py

Answer, | | W;Wz/;/—\

Questzon. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

R ' testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
- . / v

Answer.

béing duly examined before the undersigned, = &



fow alofoq uayny -

81,

b District Police Court. -

CIT¥ AND COUNTY les

Ce sy o being duly exammed before the undersw'ned

- B : :
’accordlgo to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is he & right to make a

statement in relation to the charge against h€c e~ ; that the statement is de51oned to enable
L

heasif he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against hceew that

he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h S waiver cannot be used a.O'alnst

"h ~— Oon the trial,

Question.
Answenr. [
Question. Where were yoi born’?

Adnswer, W

Question. Where do you live, and how lonO' h'lve you resided there ?

Answer. ﬁw a. //L'

Question. What is your business or professio

Answer, : _ %‘__/

Qi&gstion. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think w1ll tend to your

‘ culpation ? ) _ v
Answer Cg ( e Gé‘—c//Q_‘__\




Sec. rg8—zo00. . -0 S e Sl District Police Court. .

(/géqﬁw being duly examlned before the undersxcrned

accordan' to law, on the annexed charcre, and being informed that it is h right to make a . -
‘| statemieng in relation to the charge against IFM"\that the statement is designed to epable

’ h\_\/@ he . see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h *——<—that
he - is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h - waiver cannot be used against
hv~———~—on the trial; : .

'Questz;o%b.' Whatg

Q@estion».. How old are you ?

Answer. o ;’—?’7/&&,&%
Q_uestz’on.. Where were you born’?

Answer, o ' W

Question. Where do you live, and how ;)me you resided there ?

Answer. %W M féu,f‘%%

uestzon. What is your b s or profession ?
\ y 29
r——

Qwésti'on. lee any expla.na.tlon you ma.y think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
: testlmony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to > your

exc ion ? :

W a40,/0q uayny,

81y
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"VDistrict Police Court..

AND COUNTY o _
/ NEW YORK. . ’ . -

Z . . % being duly examined before the undersigned,
/accordié{to-'law, -on the annexed ch{ge; and being informed that it is hl_’——a right to make a
statement in relation to the charge against hwvtha.t the statement is designed to enable

- BT he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h €<—~that
he is at hberty to waive making a statement, and that IS waiver cannot be used against
h W the trial, ‘ :

Question. Where were you born’"?

Answer, . ' SRS

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer, / W %
Question. What isWss or profession ?
Answer, : '

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumlstances appearlno- in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

- exculpation ? ,
C :§ d%(/?ﬁ_"-ﬁ'
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It appearing to me by the within depoéitz‘ans and statements that the crime ther. in mentioned has been )

| committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe tke within named

% thereof, I order that %e be Reld to answer the game and he be admitted to bail in the sum of
@nd be commilted to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison of the City of New Yorz, until he )
—— s, {

Dated

et et Police Justice.

L have admitted the above-named
o bail to answer by the undertaking kereto annezed. .
N . Y‘ :

~,
\\ \ —Police Justice.

-

Dated 188

B

Trere being no sufficient cause to believe the within named
guilty or ‘Zke offenice within mentioned, I order he fo be discharged.

3

Police Jusﬁce.




of General Sessions of the Veace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THL‘ PEOPLE OF THE STATE OoF NEW YOoRK

. agcunst
_ m X.“/‘t/tm W
Mﬁ P W M

e M\-A{b’,

L

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York by this indictment, accuse
x\a——m’

of the CrIiME oF BURGLARY IN THE /KT\.-.A): DEGREE, committed as follows:
The said Bm‘_* mm} %@\.Q_?_R-._ /%_’\%
>
T e m‘k P }%_M‘og_ M, 2. —

late of the[A,-—.e.W ‘Ward of the City of New Yorlk, in the County of New York
aforesaid, on the X X Ry~ . day of T ~— e Ry —— , in the year

of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and eighty- -L_i—' i~~n~with force and arms, abeut the
hour of X< eXwua_. o’clock in the ﬂ:_@\)c‘ time of the same day, at the Ward,

City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of one 2‘ N e S

2

there sﬂ:uate, :Eelonlously and. buro glariously did break into and enter, there being then and there
some human being, te-wit-: : - .-

within {the said dwelling house with intent to commlt some crime therein, to wit: the goods
chattels and pe1sona1 ploperty ‘of the said % W M ‘Y\«-— tho_w —_

in the said dwelling house then and there bemg, then and there felomously and burglariously to
steal, take and. carry away ;.

M%MWM Ww w
oS Ao~ MW~&M“M W
APen S Bra>

-

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and agamst the peace of the People
of the State of New York and their dignity,

P




[ T ’

AR
,"’:‘ i et e
:w,:-_“ x:%ﬁm e

SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY AF ORESAID, by this indictment further accuse the said

%&g‘,_xs_,“(:s_x\,.wc— S :rmo’r-&'\- w, AR oy
of the CRIME OF /g‘M LARCENY & ~Xa }(Tvv.&- S opmm  committed as follows :

The said Qomoy- R DR DroceRann Sy R g

late of the Wargi, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit : on the day and in the year aforesaid,
at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the /“:7%/% “time of the said day, with force and arms,

MM%/&S_,\M% %;’qm)

-

4

<

R

and personal property of one %- me.\ .

of the goods, chattels

in-the .dvire]_]jﬁg ‘house of the sa-i'da e XY Ce s TN S . S

there situate, then and there bemn' found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there

'fel?nlously did steal, take and | carry away, a,ﬂ'a,mst the form of the statute in such case made and.
provided, and against the péace of the People of the State of- New York and thei dlgnlty. o )




THIRD COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the sa1d

M Y S
of the CriME oF RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows :
The Sa;idé/o':‘zrx, LD Wm, }w,«\& M

late of the Ward, Clty and County aforesaid, afterwalds to wit: on the day and in the year afore-
«— saidy at the Waxd, -City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, m_

r

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one _% . wm ' LS, —

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before feloniously

stolen, taken and carried away from the said % e A< me Y Y o, ——
: >

»
- . -
.

unlawfullyland unjustly, did feloniously 1ece1ve and ha,ve the said %os_g_‘vk S /Q\...bbc/\u_\

then and there Well knowing the said goods, ¢hattels and personal property to have been feloniously

stolen, taken and ca.med away, aga,mst the form of.the statute in” such case made and provided,
and against the peace of the Peop‘Ie of the State of New York and their dln'nlty

[
District Attorney. _
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Irvquest 1rto the Deaﬂ1
. ) Before
= of - _ f;H()N.'M. J. B. MESSBMER,

and a Jurye.
CATHFRINF WHI TTL].

New Yo rk, Dece}nbei' I1th, 1890;

Appearances:’ Mr. :rosse appears f or the District Attor-

ney, in beha lf of the people,
OFFICER JOHN CANAVAN, duly syorm:

the Coram er:o

Q ' Where do you live? A. 37 Oliver Street, this Cit y.
Q - ~What is your-occqpatidn? A. Police officer.

Q How was your attention drawvn to this case and when?

A, On Noverb er 26th Mrs. Daly the sister of the deceased

came to the station. house No. 9 Oak Street, the Fourth
Precmct, sh_e told the Serg eant at the desk, I was stand

ing there at the time, that her sister was lying at, No. 22
Cherry Street ard that she was badly beaten and her eye
gougai out and shie . thought she was going to die; I went

with her to No. 22 Cherry Street, in the alley way' and I

found Mrs. Whittle in a.small room there lying on a bed on
the floo:r'; I asked her what was the matter with her and

she asked me who s > ert me. 'bhere, I t01d her her sister ‘c_ame




-

to the statlor- house and t.old }xxx us she was going to die.
‘She sa1d no; I sa:Ld stard up, wha‘b is the matter wrbh you,
‘she said a-~litt1e 'brovble be'Lween me ard my husband. I
sald Who- ga ve you that black eye, ‘she told me . that. her hus—
-vband beat her but it dldn '+ amour't bo anythzr [o 08 and she

refused to come to the station house and make a C(mplan:nt'

she ordered me . dnd her 81ster to gr"b out'v she .said she sent |

for ‘the szster not to go to the sta tion house but to 'c‘onel

" and help to clean up the houSe ; that was on November 26+th.

I understood then thny had a row on the SUI‘ddV night fol low—':

ing; and on Thursday the brother of the prisarer here came
to the station house and reported Dr. Heimnirgrway of No. 52
Market S'tree'bA that Mrs'. Whlt'ble was p ree tty bad 'bhat she

had faller dovn the stoop and had fractured her skull so

plt.al, the next day her sister came aroxund agra:m and told
me her sis ter was very bad, that she was u‘o:Lr'gr to die;

I sa1d where is she and she sald, in the Chambers Street
Hospital. 1 said, have you ng doctors to show that, let-
ters from the doctor and I will arrest this man; I saidid g0
ard get it. Then I dldl""t- see her ur*t:xl that everning when
I hee.xd she died in the Charnbers Street Hospltal.

Mr. G—rosse.—

§ Q On the 26th of November did tms wonan get up on her
| \

f eet" .A'.,' Yes, the bed was lylrg on the floor.

Q Was ’bhere any abra.s:zor VlSlle?» A.’ On this side of

her face it was all bl sck. Co . -

Q 21y blodd visible? A. No, ‘sir.

we sent for an ambula:nce and had the wman ‘t,aker to 'bhe ho S—

e e e et e e e o e e




Q_ On her body‘? Al ‘No, sir; she only said there was a

ll'b'ble rov between her and her husbard.

0 On Sunday fol low:mg there was another row?

wha‘b I heard.

Q You didn't see it? A. No, sir.
0

And on Thursday following the brother came"
sir, he came to the station house. .
Q Did you see the woman onn that day" A, No, sir; I

d:dn t know it was the .woman at the tine because he dldn't

say, he said it was a wanan that fell dorn the stoop; I

didn't know-lt. was Mrs. Whittle a+t the time or 1 should have

i’gaie around there. i

é You 'd.idn"b .see her alive‘é . i only on the
28th. | | o
ng‘ '-YAou» arrested this defendant?  A. No, sir, I did not.
Q - Have you ever had any cmversamor wi th h1r'1‘?

fA. No, sir; only fran the Tombs Court up to here.

Q@ Did he say anything about it? A. No, sir: he didnm't

.

| say amything about the matter sin ce.

MARY SLATTERY, duly sworn.

By ‘bhe Coron er:— _ _
IC_) You live where?  A. 22 Cherry Stree'b.

.
!Q Wha‘t do'you do for a living? A. I work any place I

can .get it to do.

(3)




How long did you know the deceased, Cather:me Whlttl e“’

Not long, about 2 or 8 mort.ho N at the mo st,.

What kind of a wanan was she? A. A »falr Woma e

. N

'Q Sober or-:otherW:Lse" A..' I don‘-'tbknow any thing much
A . 12

‘abou“b that. o
Q Did you know her husband? A. Yes.

Q How long did.you know him? A. About as long as two @ .

three months.
Q Did they live ’)eaceably tog ether“’ A. Yes, so far,

yes .
Q On what floor did you live? A. I lived opposite

their Cbor.

: 0 On. wha't. floor is that in the house? A. First floor
Cin the back. ' B

,Q Arw if there wasv any qllfrel in their rom yaa would hear

it?  A. They didn't quarrel muh at all; " he come in this

day in and out in the hall and he cane in very drunk and

we saw her lying on the floorand he put her sitting up and

he punched her in the face.

By; Mr. Grosse:-—
! -
i Q On what date did he punch her in the face" A.

coauldn't tell you.
Q'- Wha'b day of the Week was it -- was it a Sur:day'f’

A, I think so; I think it wass Sunday; it was a snowy
day; he was co ming in and out in the hall vei'y drunk both

times and he was after trying to gpeak to here.




e

Q ' She was ly:mg on the floor?- A. Yes «

Q- On’'a bed‘? "'A.‘ R:Lgh-b on the floor, he put-her sitting
up. | _

,Q-‘:jv;_Hvow d id you cane to see her lying on the floo r‘?

A. He lei'b the door half open. _

| After he had 1 eft the door where did he go, thi s.‘priseéz-

A. He sat down on +he chair.

‘In his own . room? A. Yes.

Q And so you could see into the roam? A. Yes; I was

in and out coming bup with the pail of water and she was si'lb—‘;5
ting Up near where he was sitting on a chair.
Q He was drmk? A. Very drwn k.

Q Wha'b did he do the A. I dom't 1mov&, I couldn't
te 11 ',rou any more. 7

Q " Did he stoop down to his. wife and bea‘t. her" A. He
was 'brylng to speak to her five ve six ‘t:unes he tried to

make her sn eak to him and she dldn't like to speak to h:1m -

she dldr't waﬂ‘t, to speak to 111m.

_Q He talked to her whil e she was lying. on the floor?

A. Yes.

Q . She didn't give him ary answer? ° A. No, sir;/ no.

answer ab all.

VQ ' Then he stopped down toraxd s her ard beat her in 'bhe_
fa'ce? 'A. He put her s:tttnng up and hit- her in the face,
he llfted her up off the floor and h'e hit her rlgah'b in the

face.

Q So he was sitting near her?  A. He was sitting right

"by her -




How did he llft her up?' A. With. h1s t\vo hands._
By “bhe head" A. he put his two hands ur'der her

wai s'b -

1Q  And then he hit her in the face" A.  Yes, sir.

Q : With his flst‘? A. W:Lth ‘his flS'b.
Q orw :u,h his 0per hand" A&, I dm 't know which.

Q Do yvou know whether he had any hard sub stance in his

hand?  A. I couldn't see nothing in his hand at all.

Q  How mary bimes did he hit her? A, I dm'i know how
marvy t:m&s he hit her orvce.

Q How long did v ou stay in the room aft er he hit her‘?

Aa" I didn® 't stay at all in the roan, I only passed by with

Aopen and any one gould see ‘and he was sitting on the chair

by her, dl’ﬁ he put her s:tt:mg up close to hlm.

a pail of Water into my own r'oom, and this door was half - j
|

i

I

Did you see h ar again on that day? A. Yes.
‘Did you see him sggain on that day? A. Yes .

Where did 'you see the two? - A, I see» them in and out

i

She wa lkedl out? A.+ No, sir; she was not able to get ‘

Q
lup.atall afber that.
Q Why was she not able 1o get out? A. I casldn't tell

Jou.

Q You know onily that she d':idn*’t'go out? A She was nb'bl
i able to go out. |
Q Why was she not able?. A. After he hit her,she was

-y

not able to get up or nothing.




-

g

Q D1d she say she was ‘not sble to get up? A, ITde't
k:rvow. | ‘ '

Q You carmot tell us that she did not. get up" A, She

d1dn t get out aitervthat tnme, she was sick. -
and Whittle himself |

MQ He \ver»'{, in arvd out? A Yes, sir,

was in and ocut in the T oom.

Q Did you see h:Lm strike her ap‘a:m‘? A. No, sir; I

dndn't see him hit her any more only that time.

Q Was her face disc olored? A.. . The side of her face

i was very black. v
d Where he struck her? A.  Yes.

Q' Did you see him strike her amin? A.

shut my door.
Q On that daJ or ar‘y o‘t,her da_,r‘? T A,

FLTSIOe R

ELLEN CASEY, duly swormn:

‘bhe Coror*er.— . _
Q : Where do- Vou llve" A."  No. _240."Ch'err‘y, Stree-g’.

Mr. Grosse:-
I know ro“b'hifg

d S‘bate what you know of this case" A,
about it at all. I knew this boy before he Wasmarrled at

all. I never knew her but I seen her, she was s nice woman .




since I knew her; 1 rever seen her drunk or taking arythlr._r;

Q You llve in the same. house with her‘? A.' No, sir, I.

lives in the next house. ' . .
‘_Q ‘ Dld you visit her on the 26th of Novenber? ‘A .Ne,

s;'Lr, “I never went. into her house.

MARGARET FEENEY, duly svorn:-

;jthe Coroner:- . » ;
Q Where do you l.ive‘? ‘A.  No. 5 Batavia Street; I work
qn- a large Prov:Ls ion place in Wes‘b Street ' B |

Q In what capac:rby" A, In the -line of beéf, armd smoked

i

lbbeef. A

Q What do you do?  A. -Can it.

(é How long have you known the deceased‘.f; A, .‘She was a
sister of mine. | - _ | .

d F'Tel.l the Jury what 'y'ou know about 1't" A. I just hap-
_:pened to come home fran work last Thursday night, I live
hext dooxr there; 'lny brother and I keep house; I happened
‘]'bo cane u_psta:.rs .and I asked my s:LS'ber Mrs. Da:liyy/:.f she
heald arythlng abOu'b 'bhe s:Lster, she sa:Ld she wert down and
couldn 4 get 14-, I said I "/111 go down ard see how she 1s,<
I lwerwt dovn ard her husband was sitting 'bhere read:mg a news
.p per, I went down and asked her how she fe It arnd she

couldr-'t speak to me, and I said to George have you g;ot.ahy

1

:
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drink, give her a dri‘nk‘ _he said she is after dr:mklng a

:ll‘btle water. I told Mrs. Daly how my sister was - I

thought -we had better send for 'bhe priest; aer husband and

his brother Wert for the doctor and we had to-go after “him

4‘bwo or three 'b:un&s before. he cane domn, ~and ther his brothe-

ard her husband went for Dr. Henmlngway. ‘

Grosse:- ‘

You live’i;l Batavia Street? A. Yes.

So you dan 't live in the same house with her‘.:’ A. No,
sir;  she lives 1n Cherry S'bree'bl.

Q What day of the month was Thursday when you went 40 her
house?. A, It was 1 ast.' Thursday I think.

Q _ - A.  Yes, sir; the night she

was taker to the ho qaltal.,‘ ‘

Q That was the fourth of December; and what time of the
day 'did you f=qo] theré A, It was aboui, go:Lng on s:xx o'clok

in the ever':mg, I haal‘ cane home fram work

Q Your sister Mrs. Daly was 1livi ng in the same house?

A. She lives next door to me in Batavia Street.

Q You then went down to Mrs. Whittle's house after Vou

’

came home - you inquired of Mrs. Daly how your s1ster was?

A. Yes » sir.

Q  And theén you Nent dowr there? A; Yes.

Q@ . And you saw this man in the roorﬁ" A. . Yes.

.

d In what condition was he?- A. He was sifbtl:ing' by the

stove ::'ea.d:l.r-;P the rewspape r.

Q Sober or drunk" A. Sober.
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Q- In what condition was your sister? A. She was lying

in bed. 7 A
Q = You sp.oke '..to' her? AL ijes . .
Q

What dld you say to her" A. - I asked her how she

_'fel‘b and . she couldn't speak to me; I spoke to her three

or four 'b:unes and she was mu*bter:mg and she carldn't very
well speak and all she could say was "He kicked me in the
s.lide -

0 You spoke to this man *t,hen;? A. I told him I was g o
ing to my sisters then.

Q  Didn't you ask him what was the matter with her?

A. S0, sir; that is all I spoke to him.

_‘Q, Whep did you see your sister rext‘-’ A, I didn't see

her until she was brought home dead fran the hosmtal.

—— e = ———

ELIZABETH DALEY, duly swo rn:

the Coroner:-

Q Where do vou live? A. No. 5 Baté.via Street; I kesp
houée‘ for rﬁy hus bard. | _ _ ‘ - :
Q@ What do you know about this cese? A. I don't know

arything more 'tharv this, I guess it was about the 20th, a

llttle girl came to my house ard said does Mrs. Daley live

+edidan Jranaa
here, I said yes. She said Mrs. Jua,.ﬂc_.,ee said to .come

~down as soon as_posszlble, your sister is very low, she g ot




a beating from her husband; I +told her I would .o down
right away; I wert down aﬁd I asked her what happened and .
she said, '“George hit me." . I said ,> "Don't you want a doc-
'bor‘.;_" ‘She said no, I don't want i'ﬁ public; I said get a

Vpriest, she said 1;10; 'she kept getting worse all the +ime;
I “b‘he.n went to the étation'hous_e and got a police_mah, 'bhe'
poliée asked her what happened ard she said it was family a$f
fairs ‘Aar':d I ought to mind my own business and ordered me
out;~ I informed the police aiso_ of her death; that is all
I know'. '

MR. Grosse:-

| You say you visited her on the 20th of'November‘.;.

I am not sure whether it was the 20h or not.

It was the date on ~hich you went to the station house?bg

No, sir; I }n}erib to the .station house on the 26th.
That vwvas after the first visi'b‘.‘-’ A. Yes .’

O the 20th you found your sister lying in bed‘.;
| Yes, sir. ' 4

Did you see any marks of violence on her‘z; A. I seen
face was all black and blue on one side ard I heard she

fallen down the sto op.’

She said that? A. Wo, she didn't say it, she said

‘husband hit her. " S

And was her husband present‘é’ A, No, s'ir;> not then
he wa"svnot.
Q Did you see him on that day? A. Yes, sir; I seen
him on that eveming; I kept f,he house for him until she

died; I said, "My Crod, George, what happened Catherine;®




He said, "I am blest if I ecan 'bell Vou, I don't know ary-

thing more a‘boun it than what you. do."®

Q . When did you seé your sister next?  A. T stayed with

-her every day until she was taken to the hosp1ta1.

Q What made you 20 to the station house on the 26th?

'A. I was afraid to stay there a lone with her; "she was

‘getting more ill ard there was no money for a doctor.

Q Do you know of arwy assault camitted by this man upon
your deceased s:r.ster‘? A, I‘To, sir; I never saw this

man strike my sister since he married her.

Q You never heard it oniy from your sister? A, Yes.

Q Did she :m form you of any other assault camittedby

h1m upoz1 her‘? A, No, sir.

Q -You know only of one assaul t? A, Yes, that is all.

Q What marks were- visible upon her body‘? Ao Her back
was all black and blue but I though‘b that was from ly:mg.
Q The whole of it or part of it ? A, A little snot

here and there. .

Q Exterd ing over the whol eof the back or only. the upper

fpart‘? A. Only the upper bart, around her shoulders.

'Q Azﬂa on’ the 268th you went to the station hou se because

you though‘b she couldn't stay in the house‘? A. Yes.

‘Q’ . 'she ought 'bo be removed to the hospital? A. Yes ,

and_ she didn't wart to .;o.

Q And you went with the officer +to your sister's house?

A. Yes.

Q What did y‘ou‘r sister say? Al The o fficer asked what

was the matter with her and she said hern husband hit her,.
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she asked the off 1cer who s ent him thers,. and he said
sister, arﬂ she said it is only a family affalr; I
said there is no use of me stayl:ng here I cannot cure Vou,
she said she vouldn't go, she was ge ting better. |
Q When did- you see her next‘? A. I xawxhxwe was with her
every day until she was +to *bhe_ hospital. B
d On what day was she taken o the ho spital‘é’ A. I think
it was Thﬁrsday-. _ A '
Q vThusrday of lastw've,ek‘.‘? A, Yes , sir.

i Q And before she was taken +o the hospitd you didn't see
this man strike her? Al No, sir; I did nob; Sunday

| nigh‘b thatvthey say he had the fight the man was perfectly
Sober armd it was late when I wert home that night, I know '

they had no qumrrel that night. They were married five
years last August, they livedhsppy all the time; I never.

! lnew them to quarrel.

Q Did you ever see this man since the death of your sis-

P

ter? A. - No - yes, I did,; down the Court House. .

i Q Did you speak 10 him? A. Yes, I did speak to0 him.

Q What did you say? A. He said » he was standing
'bheré, he' was expec ting some money to bury his wife = I

didn't see him then after that U.I""tll his brother left him

that ‘all 'bhe expenses was pa:Ld -

Q Did he say snything about his wife's injuries?  A. Ng

sir, the man told me all along that he didn't know how it -

happened at all.
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MARIA FANNING, duly sworn:

the Coroner:-

Q ‘Where do you liv-e, and what is your .occ upat:mon"‘

A.“ 1 11V‘e No. 22 Cherry S'breet I live Xmxmgx with my

hu sb and and famly.

Q What do you know about this affalr‘? A. All T knofv

about it - she sent a 11*‘b1e boy into me if I cauld send

i 0r go down to Batav:La S‘breet end send for her sister,amd T

‘ wert, in and she was lying on her bed with her face éll black,

anrd her eye all knocked - I sent for her s1ster ard she came
lup; thet dis a1l I know; I left the room ard I didn't see

H
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her ary more until the night she 1ef4 with the ambulance .

By Mr ‘Grosse:-

iQ Then she requested you to send for her sister was her
,hus hand there‘? A, No, sir; nobody but herself.
1 Q Did you ever see this man strike Mrs. Muttle‘?

i Al No, sir; I have n ever been in their roans.

he Cordner:-

Q Where do you live and what is your occuw at ion?

A. I live No. 22 Cherry Street, in the frmt building;

o s e

rhiadnd e

L
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I keep house for the boys. _
d . How lohg did you know the deceased’ Cathe rine Whittle?

A..* All 'bhe 'tJIHe theV were 13 v:mg there, I iyuess it was

about t.wo or +hree months.

-Q: How long do you know her husband? A, '>Ab‘out the same

time.

Q How did they live together? A. Happy enough as far

as I seen.

Q They iived in the rear house and you in the frant house?

A, Yes.

Mr. Grosse:-

Did you visit' her? A. Only once.

Wher' de you visit her" A. One tine before she was .
ever . . ’
xzezx- s:Lck.

Q Dld you see her with a black face‘-’ A.

Q Did you see her husband s trike her"

rever was in her house but once.

Q How long ago is that" A. Before she had no h:Lng and

no quan-el - I don't know how long ago it is - I couldn't

tell vou.

Q (By a Juror) Did you know that they did have. g quamnr

rel? A. No, sir; I didn't know a .bit abou+t it arymore

’bhsn you.

JULIA DRISCOLL, duly svorm:

S IR riavaar

.the Coroner:-

Q ,Where' do Yy ou l_ive-and what is your occzpatlon‘?
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BYE? MR. GROSSE:— ' ..

11ve ‘No + 28 C}'Iorry Strpp‘b, and I am work"ngr for my ch:.ldren

and husbend, - t,rylncr to oab 2l onga -

Q  How long' h&Vp ¥ou knom .,he dec eased Cat.herln Whi t61e?

A, I hav;s known hiar g'o:».np' in znd out for about 7o or

thres months; I live 1n the basenmt = in the rear; they
11v;> on ‘thp fll‘S‘t— fl cor in thp back on thé othar sidp.
Q How lomr hava you known the accusad? A The saxné.

i
i Q - Were +hnv quarrelsom" A, I never heard thane.

| Q  You know that this woman was taken %0 +the hospital?

A, No, sir; I never was in her room but once in my 1if é.
. Q Did yo{l know thet this womsn was carried off to the Lios-
,é pital? A. I understood sha was r gnaved, but 1 was late
"a'b.. hig‘htj;‘ I was in bed at the time.

Q "You }léiﬁ'of it? A, Yes, in the morning.

Q How soon before she was re’noved +0 the hospital did you .
i See her? - A. Two werks, on Monday « |

Q. Do you know when she was remov «d to the hospital?

Al Lé.st "Thursday. .

Q How scon before last Thursday did Yo Spee her? A, On.

Monday two wegks, I s emm her, and she was ranovel lest

Thursday . _ : .:

Q  Where did you ses her? A. Shs smt her four year old:

|

,‘boy....t.o the door f me to smd for her s1s‘ber.

Q, To ¢ o \‘7}‘91‘6-. A. Up ‘to hpr -room.

Q 'Sh_n,fsen'b‘for you? A,  Yes, sir; she asked ms for

Cod's sake_wou.Id I send for her sister; I said yps, when I

we.s é:oinp- for my dinner; I asked her wliere and shra said No.
5 Batavia Street and t.old me her name was Dal cy, I went
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down with tho chlld md meb & little child and told her T -
w111 hurry up -
Q Did sha say why har s1ster was tn come? A. I seen.

}er face, it was black and all full of blood, and her .aye

was hang’lnp' out on her ch epko
Y

Q Whet else did she say to you? A, She didn’t say a'hty-

MOoYre e«

~

Q You ware just sbout +o state sha said somagthing?
A, Sha sant for her sister.
Q  Did she say anything how she cames +o the violence?

A. No, sir, sho nevar did, she was lying on her bd be-

-hind the door .

Q Dld you ask har how sha came to the baclk sye?

; A, No, SZLI‘ for nmy baby was crying and was sick

night before, I nover s esn her from that day.
Q - Dld you S°9 hor bpfore t"at day? A. - I sgagen her in
and out like sny O'f.';hpl‘ woman. |

Did you see any marks of violence on her? A. . No, sir,
but hér fac e was black. v
Q Was har faéa kxxk black bafore she raqu ested you to
send?  A. No, sir; that was the day.

Her face was not black bgore that day? A. No, sir;

RHEER AT NG SR T Adver

1

spoke".'bowthe man; I ﬁhink in my life. -

. _ ' 'I’he',au“r,ops‘y is now read by the steon-

ographsr, which is signed by DR. Corway.

2er T

T

0.9,




B

i

i
i
]
5
H
i

f
j
|

i
i
I
-
i
¢
li
i
i
I
i
|
|

{
{
I
i
3

JOHN THOMAS WHITTLR, duly sworn, testified s

the Coroner:-

Q Where d o you live? A. 129 'Madi son Street; I am

- working at the Fulton Fish Market.

Q Do you know arnyihing about this matt gr? A, I went

into thet houée thet night and I was told‘t}at‘,.s}:e had fall - |
o anvd I went'for the doctor and I w ent‘ to the station
hous g« | | ' '
Q Whae t doctor? A. Dr. Hgmingway, No. 52 Market Stfaétg
I went fo‘r tha do.'ctor and brought him to theo louse. :
Q And &% he said she had fallen?  A. Yes; that is sll.

I mow ebout it

'By’ Mr. Grosse:-—

-Q . .You wer 2 no% present when sk o liad f=ll sn? ‘As ~ No,

sir.’ _

Q And tilet was o ﬂte day wiien she was carried up_f.o the
hospitel? A. Yes. | .

Q Did ya speak to her?  A. She could '+ wnd ers tand

Mg - she kmaw my namg.

Q Who called yau to Hhe house? A. Nobody cell s me +o

the housse; I want in accidentally; I had not baen in the

"hous g in & weak.

1
’

y a
i

Ha informed you +lat sgite had fall=n?  A. :,_res, Sir. -
Say T How! and WH §FaY AT T  tn dprs tood “shie fall
off tha stoop; I told the doctor so end I +told the surgeon

se in the Chambers Street Hospital.

-

Juror :~ ' . . -

Q When tha def endant went wi th you.to the doctor what did

he say? A, Ha said kb und srstood she had fallen - he




d1dn t sav any*bhlng; pl Se abouo it.; ha didn'+ ,._+ 211 m(:: any-

thlnp‘ clSp about. 11;' I +old thea doctor she had a fall and

Hp said gou go, homn and I will

I thlnk 11‘, was danp' arous.

Qo therp as fast as’ my legs can carry mp, Dr. Hgnm_in;gway:

"I brought him _‘bhére; —

_can tell you ‘t.he same th:mp',,

The Coroner : (To the prison a) You have the privil ege |
#o testify if you wish, but you nesed not do so un-—

less you desire to do 80; inasmuch as you are not

rppr ent.pd by counsel it is my duty to tell you

+}l&t Y

The prisaner tekes +the stand in his

-

omn behslf .
GF‘ORGF- WHI TTLERE, du ly sworn, t-s tlfl ed :

+tha Coron ar -
- Noe 22 Ch@rry Stmet-

Q Wheredo you live? A.

I am a 'boo*_b black by

Q What is your occupation? A.

occupation in +tha Cour+t Hous e

Q Thp deceas ed was your wif o? A. Yes.

Q How long had vou been marri ed to her?  A. Five years

lest August. - the s gond of August.
iz 022 Chiorry "Strest P | .

AL Tlr.r ae months ¥ es Jprday <

9 .Do.'you_ knov_‘r Mrs . Slattaery comlng' into your room"

.

A. : N%.’-sil‘; I np'\fpr knpw her to be in the hous ¢ - in

my roome.

Q - bid you n ow Mrs. Slatt.ery" A, I did,' but no’cf by.

.nanle-




she 11v9s, oppoqw te vcu" A Yes,~'s'ir

Do you rpmemb r your mfe Aying an the lounge on the

;'fi__por? A When, that snowy: day?

Q. Yes? A. k ves,‘ I jwas‘hom .an:d-I \'fv's in and ,drb all

the timei” I went out for & pa.

ow‘.it..v

Q What day of +the W eek -Wa's it =~ was it Sund ay? Ao Nd,

-

sir; it was not.’

Q. TWas it Monday?  A. I think it was sbout Wednesdey s
Q. What time of the day was it whan you wer e._hor’n_e‘?

A.  About, sl aven o'clock, .in the morning.

Q And why 'did yai -stay § hbme'?, A. :B;_ec_:au.sé- 1+ ‘was s_now’-":_‘

‘

Jng; - I nnv°r do leSlnosq on snowy or raln_/ deys.

Q Your \71f was lylng' on -thp floor“’ A.' Yes, sir.
Q - Now, why was she ly:.n;r on *bhe fJ_oor" A, She was 1y-

1nq on the bpd not on the fioor.

Q Was shg s1ck‘? A. I d1dn t questa.on her to ssee
Wi--ether she was sick or not I had & 1ot of PEPers in the
houSp and 1 g'ot the flrs hot. and weit to rsad.

Q Did ycu sprak to her" A, Yes, sir; I spoka sgvaral

times 'bo her. B -

Q Did she sp ek to ,VOU?' . 'Y,_res, Sire.

W}at d:.ad Shp say to ycu" T A ;T.ha'b is’ sdnet}xirlg I

her a*bhar, I spolfp to har abouu housxahold affa1xs.

'Q . Did -aha fet up? j‘A’. " She g‘ot up +hs samg day but not
thg firs ’c,:unp +thgt I spokg t.o her.

st e

Q - Did sha- s’;at up, after- you p"ot up" Ao
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Were ol'f':Jan on tho cha::_r near her‘7 A:

~.don’ t Jc,h:mk I d1,d" I ‘r,hlnk she
t-"ng; JO'LII‘ hands under her walst'
SJ.I", -

~“at all’.

not ttat I can r gmegmbear;

A.

that she saw it? T dldn t sag it;

day .
Q You mey halveg dong it? A,
I didn'te

Q  Arsyw D'o'sitiv.n about it?  A.

is tlet tru e?

. YeS—, sir.

SlI‘

I don't say I did;

Q  Did you lsave har up - did you 1ift hor up while you
: Neo

I

could” ,czat up hers elf .

No,

Q ‘f:"‘ You don't remember it, but she bestifi ed posi tley

I was theres all

Q You hpard r-/Irs. Slattery uestlfy you raised her up put -
. A.

I don't remémbet? raising her

I say

know 11’ I was raising hpI‘

Q

Q

Vou d1d or
sh &

sppalflngr 0 her first.

A momglt. before yaa were not pos:ane" A.

W ou.ldn t i?

I w ould

You sald yar do not. rpmpmb ar - you did no* lmow wh cyher

d1d not,, and now you say you did not? A.

ot up and sat by tha fire, bu+ not at the tlm I 'was

I say

- Ib was out
= Q

The question is whother you took her up by her waist -

A, No, I did note.

rais «d her? sir,

Q Did you' See any. bleck@ spots upon har faceg? A. Yes.

comg to these marks?

‘How did she
Sunday

oot - how did é.he

‘}‘V_eel{s ‘BT last

all day and I knew nothlnp' about +h«= black ms.zks

unt11 the f oll owing day, Monday morning. -

'Is- not, true that yqu‘struck har in the fece? A. _No‘ﬁ"f,"_'-

sir..

trus thet you striick lier in ths back?

.

‘not

s




N;’? sirs o )
Is it not true {hatfybg s£rugk'ﬂerfin the. sid e?
A ‘No, sir . o | |
Q In the ab'domen‘? -4-A;. A‘No’, -six?._
i In wheat 66nai_f,;i,9n'. w ere you on’ that snowy day, ._._\.fv~d'e. y_bu .
: vscbei-? Al %{es, gir,‘ I ;w"as.‘. ' ’

Q Mrs . Slattery -is'a_id/h‘m very drunk? A. She said I -

was in and oute

Q _'Y._:s, an(i drunk? A. . T had begen drunk before Hhatb day

" but no‘t;’on“ that day . ) .
Q You are Prstby oft en'druﬁk;'\a.re you not? A. Oh, no.
Q. _And‘fhis money - vou ‘spent it? Al -wotAall; I spant
2 litble of it. | ' o
_And y ai had querrgls with your wif ¢? Ao N,ol,
Didn't you oft en have quarr elsu Wwith your wif o?
No, sirs -

Didn't you beat hor often? AL No,".31r.l'

Did y'cur wif e;say‘ﬁo y a1 how sh = came to these

Yes, sir; she said I dona it.

You di d? A. Yes;A she said I don‘e it .

Is it true or not trug? A, it is not_t.rue as far as
1 kn ow . | | |
Is it not possibls thet

not tle+t possible? A. ‘never used my foot on & woman -

I might have strudk —--= : |
Q Is it no% possible that while yol were drunk y'qu beat

your wif e - you punched her and you kicked her, is it not

I




possible t.}at ya- chd ‘bhls wh:i.le yo1 wers drunk?

A. Of course it is possible.. ‘ _

Q“ Is it not very likely tlat you dd it? A.  well, I

don't. know, I know she'was rsasonable enoﬁp;h; _ she:-was'

" i raasonable until the day she was taken to tle hospital and
When I came in ‘blat. nlght she was raving. .

Q ‘She would not charge you with beat.ing: her if it was no'b
'brue? "A. It may be.

ittt PSP RS- Y § P, VN S

The ,Goibner:' ' Gez;_E.-a'nm of the Jury - You will please

f1nd 1n yom- verdict how, whsn and wt sere the de-
eased‘{ ‘came -‘tor' her dsath. .and who, if - you can s8Y s
is responslble for :i.*b. 'Ihe 'bestimony ‘has been vel'.'y
brief and tte D1st.r1c:t At.t.orney has gone 1nto it so
thoroup;hly thet i is hardly neceseary for m to re-
view it. You are all intelligent men and I trgst
it lzvill not take you long to come to the conclusion
asﬁuﬁ‘bo wh sther this man is responsible for this

¢crime or otherwise.

B ket Ko T PP SRR Y § 7, Y

Bright's d:l séaée of tle kidneys ,and fatty degener-
ation 'of,', liver, accelerated by injuries received at
‘bln tands of Georg,e Whi'bt.el, at No. 22 Gherry Straef
Nov enber 251:}1 1890.




-THE PEOPLE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS, PART I. -

VS

GEORGE WIIITTEL. -BEFORE.RECORDER SMYTH.

Tuééday, May 5, 1891.

Indietment for manslaugshter.

Asst. Dist. Atty. Weeks fFfor the People.

A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

MARY SLATTERY, sworn and examined by lLir. Weeks.

Where do you iive, Mrs. Slattery? A. I live in 22

Cherry Street.

you. know. this defendant, George Whittel?

seen’him:hittihg his wife, I know him: two or thyee:

months in the back room.

Where waé he living when you knew him. A. Right opposite

my room on the same floor.

Do you remember a certain Sunday night the latter part of

November? A. I think it was Sunday evening.
Did you seec this defendant on that night? A. Yes sivr,
I seen him in and out of his own house.
Was his wife Catherine Whittel in there at +that time?
. ' }ﬁva,
A. Yes sir, she was lieing on  the soBem.
Will you tell us what you saw that Sunday night?

A. I seen him hitting her on the side and kicking

First he came in the door did he? A« Yes sir, he

asked her, "can you speak to me. "
. She. did not s@ ak to him <2 A. No sir,

What else did you see? ' A. That is all,




I1 [
—

':COuftyiQ; He asked her if she could spesk +to him, is that

vright;’what did he say %o hers A. ©pl say, can you
Speék to me.n
He said that to the woman lieing on the floor?

A. Yes sir, she did not answer.

What 4did he do then+ A- He 1lifted her up.

|[Weeks. Q. What way aia he 1ift her up? " A. He lifted wp
her up with his +two hands, he was standing up whenihe

vlifted her up; he sat down on a chair and she was sitting
.alongside of him and he hit her in the side, not a hard hit

seen him do, he left the door open, I could see what he

he hit her in the right side on the face, that is all I /

done. . {

What was his condition at that time, was he drunk or sober?
A. He was drunk; there was snow on the ground the same

time when he was there.

Did you see her aftexr that?9 A. I did not see n o

more of her after that —————— yes, she called me in once,

That same nighte A. The day arfter.

Where was she then? As She was lieing on the bed,

she had a very bad face, her face was black and blue.
How were her eyes®? A. I did not see her eye out;
they said they saw her eye but I did not see that.

What hour in the evening was it when you saw this thing

done? A. It was about Ffour o'elock, I think, in the

afternoon.

You were in your room, were you? A. Yes sir, I was at

my own door, I was looking in at her, I happened 4o go to

my doors he left the door s0'thét I could see.
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wDia ybufsée him cbmihg u?'thevstairs? . A. There was
no stairs to comé‘up, only the first flight,

Did you see him going in£$ the room? A. Yes sir,
“think itiwaé;aboﬁt four o'clock iﬁ the evening. |

B2d he walk in? A. He walked in.

WVhere was this woman? A. She was lieing on the floor

when he walked in the room.

Couid you see from your door? Lo Yes sir,
What was the first thingsg that he daid to her,
A. He lifted her up with his two hands, his hands were
undexr her arms.
He got his hands under her arms and lifted her up*®

A. Yes sixr.

She did not sStand at all? . A. No sir.
She was sitting upy in the bed then? A. Yes sir,
What did he do? A. Xle spoke to her a éouple of times
and she would not speak to him.
When he got her sitting up in the bed what did he do?

A. Ile sat her on the seat.

Was the bed neaxr the stove? O.

How could he hit her in the Fface if he was sitting on the

chairs A. He hit her as he was sitting on the chair.

How far was his chair away from the womarn, can youa show us?

A. He put her sitting up close to him like that énd he
was sitting on the chair like T am now.

ﬁe was quite close to her ¢ A. Yes sir,

And he hit her on the right side of the frce with his fist?

A. Yes sir,

What became of the woman wlen she was hit, did she fali.baqk

again? A. Yes sir, she lay dqwn,égain qn‘tbé,fibdr;:




Then what did he do? A. He walked out,

own‘door.

:Dia not- you say a moment ago he kicked her?

kicked her slightly, he did not kick her hard.

.Whére daid he kick, whét part éf her body+% A.Just
same as he hit her, he kicked her on her side.

Was it her side or her face that he kicked?

A. Her side when she was sitting down close to him.
He hit her in the face with his fist? A. Yes sir.

And kicked her in the side with his foot?

A. Yes sir, but not a hard kick.
And the woman was lieing déwn at the time she was kickedoe
A. She laid down and said, "Ohv.
What became of him? 'A. He was in and out, I

take much notice after that.

Did he go out after that right awayvw

went in and out.

Did he go up and down a Tflight of stairs?
A. No , he had no flight of stairs to go up or down.
Did he go out in the street? A. Yes sir, he was in

and out of the street talking to himself.

CROSS ITXAMINED.

Insel What time of day was it that you first saw him on

Q.-
that Sunday? A. He came in about four o'clock I thinil.

That was the Tirst you had seen of him that day?

A. O, I seen him two or three times that day in and

e

out.
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What time through the day®? ' A. He came in first abous

four o'clock.




That was the Tirst. time ydu saw him that day?

A. Yes sir, I saw him all through ih in and out.

You say he was drunk? A Yes sif.

fHow do you know he was drunk? A. He was staggering
like as if he was drunk.
Did you speak to him? A. No, I never spoké to him.
Are you éure yOuvddd not s:e ak to him?% A. Mo, I aia
not,
WVhere did you first see him? ‘ A. I seen him in his
'room in his own house.
Was he in his own room when you saw him firsty

A. Yes sir,
You say you saw him staggering in his own room?

A. Yes sir, in and out,
Never mind this generalization in and out, do you say you
saw him stagger}in his own r»oom? A. Yes sir.

And the door was wide open? A. The door was not

- very .open, not exactly all open.

How long did you watch him? A. Not long, about iwo

Tty oy o oL, e

or thrée minutes, I did not take much notice like but I
happened to see him that day.

What were you doinge® A.I happened to go out at my
ovn door and when I heard him wrangling and talking +to her
I happened to look in. ﬂ ”.
What Wwere they saying? A. He did not say anything, I
think he could see me, he was #rying t0o make her speak and
he could not.

What did he say to here? ‘ A. He said, say can you

speak to meﬂ,'just like that many a £iﬁe.




é: What aid shéhsa&? ' A. Nothing, she would not answef
him at all..

Q; She ‘saia nothing? A. INO.

Q. You stoéd at the door? A. I stood at my own door
 1ooking in at him. ;

45 Qe How far was that door from his door? A. About a yard

and a half, something like that.

Q-! Jgst across the hall? A. Across a little hall.
; ' Q- Ffém that far you could see into his room and see what he
xi was doing*? A. Yes sir.
Qe Are you willing to swear that you saw hi m stagger about
the room? A. I do not know exactly stagger but e

had drink in him.

Q- Tha+t is, you imagined he had drink in him®% 4 A. Yes sir,

I am sure he had.

Q- He was not staggering you say A. Not exactliy, not so
_ Y

L - i mach as that.

r.: _ 7 Q- You were noit very near him, were you? A. I could sce
%.' ' him from ry own door.

Q. You could not smell his breath 2 A. WO.
- Q. You did not see any whiskey taken from any bottle=

A. I saw something in a bottle.

Q- What was thatbsomething? A. I cannot tell you, it

. ’ was a bottle, that is all I know.

Q. You did not see him in rossession of a bottle, did you,
2 o you did not see a bottle in his handss A. I diq,
Q- What was that bottle? A. I could not tell, it was

on the table, I saw it in his hand and he put it on the
table, I did not take muach notice what they were doing.

I never thought I would have to come here.
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.You'testified that.you_saw him strike her? A. Yes sir.
Why do you sa, you do not know any more? A. Did not
I tell yoﬁ first and last I saw him hiﬁting her?
WhenAshe refused to speak to him what occurred next, what
was next dones A, He hit her when she would not
speak to him.
‘He hit her because she would not speak to him?

A. Yes sir
Do you know that to be true? A- Yes sir, that
true.
How did he hit hex? A. With his hand, I do not
know whether his hand was closed or noit.
You'testified a short time ago that it was with'his fist,
didn't &ou? A. I said so but I do not know whether
it was closed or not, I could not say but I seen his hand
hitting her like and he kicked her once, that is all I can
tell you.

What did you do when you saw this? A I went and

shut my own door, I would not be looking at him any longer.

You shut the door and left the sick woman to be kicked
around by this husband, 4did you? A. TIdid not Xknow
them mach.

You never had been introduced to her and therefore you

‘ecould not go in and defend hexr? A. I did not take

mich notice of them, I thought it would not be so bad as
this.

You say you saw her afterward? A. Yes sir, I saw her
affef, when ihéy sent a 1ittie boy in for me.

Why did not you g0 down when you saw this man kicking this

: . : .
woman, go down on the streét and report him to a policemant.




A. . I did not like to.
Why didn't you? A. I did not do
vYou made no.démonstration to stop him? A. I did not
make any remark, I shut my own door, I had no more +to say.
You did not go to his door and ask him do desist?

A. No, I Aaid not spesk to him at all, good or bad.
Who did you first tell about seeing him kick?

A. I did not tell no one, his wife lirs. Whittel sent
the little boy out to the nex+ doox neighboré to tell them
to come in.

Who did you first tell that you saw Whittel strike his wirfel
A. I aid not tell no one, I

Did you speak to no one at all about ite A. Mo, I dia

not but she sent a bo& out to tell the next door neighbors,

I 4aia not,tell no one, I let them figh+t it out themselves.

You never told anybody? A. Mo, I did not.

Court. Q. Weren't you before the Coroner; A. Yes sir_

Did you tell what you saw tie re? A. Yes sir,

You were before the Grand Jury? A. Yes sir, I was.

You toldvthem tIe reo A. I daida so.

Did you talk with the District Attorneyv

Just as I am telling you now the same-

Did you tell anybody in therhouse about it; they sent tie
boy-oui tp.bring in theJneighbors to sece.the waj she was;
then I héppened to say that he did hit her. v
After she was hit the boy was sent out? A. Yes sir,
she sent the boy out for the neighbors to come in to see

her.

Then you spoke to some of the neighbors what you saw, . is

that it? A. Yes sir, that is it.
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sel.Q. How long have they lived there? A. It could

not be né lomger than two or three months the& lived there.
Did you speak with them ever? A. No, I adaiad hot go
inside, I was not going in the room at all;

Did you ever épeak to either of them when you met them in
the,hall? R A. I only say good day, that is about

all, I never went into the rooms but once, she sent

ihat boy for me.

Did they live peaceably together there-

not hear much noise from them.

Did you ever hear any noise except on this occasion that
you speak of, Trom them? A. o, I did not hear no
‘noise.

They lived peaceably together as far as you know?

A. Yes sir, they had not nmich noise.
Did they quarrel at all that you know of¢% A. Yes sir,
sometimes they used to quarrel.
Did you testify before the Coroner's Jury that they livead
pPeaceably tcgether? A. I only said I did no+t hear
mach noise from them, that is all I said because I did not
g0 in the rcom to tell anything whether they were noisy
or not.
You never knew of their having any quarrel, 4Adid you?
. A. No, I adaia not
Did you ever sce her intoxicateds " A. I do not know,
sir, I never had no talk with her.
You are an expert on intoxication, aren't
A. I do not know whether ——-——-—-
court. Q. tie wants to know if you ever saw this woman>drunk?:

A. No, I did not. :
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Did she ever have the look of drink about her that you
did_you see any signs of liguor upon hexr?

A. I brought a little sup to her one +ime.

A sup of what? A. A little sup of brandy.

Q- After she was hit A. Yes sir, that is all I was in

the room-

them and occasionally drink

By CouTsel_ Q, Then you did visit with

a little brandy with them? A. NWo, I did not, not a

sup, that is 211 I saw her drink.

Did you testify before the ,oroner's Jury that he kicked

here A. Yes sir.

Are you sure about that? A. Yes sir, I am sure

How long a time did this take, this 1lifting her up and

striking and kicking hexr< A. Only twod or thr ee

minutes.

Did you go back and forward to see 1if the door was open?

A. I did not, I shut my own door.

You did not go back to see what became of her;

A. No, I aid not, I did not £0 near them at all.

You are sure thatbyou testifieq before the Coroner's Jury

that you saw him kick her; A. Yes sir,

JULIA DRISCOLL, sworn and examined.

By Mr. Weeks, Q- Where do you live; /e NO. 22 Cherry Street.

Qe On what floor. A. I live in +the basement.

Q. That is right under the apartments occupied in liovember by

Whittelrand Mrs. Slattery? A. No sir, it is on the
other side of the building.

Under whose ap=mrtment? ' A. There is no




By Lir.

Mr. Whittel's apartment.

You are on the floor below them? A. I am in the base-
ment facing the Ffront. |
Do you remember on Monday, November 24 sgoing up to Mrs,
Whittel's roomy A. She sent down a five year old boy

for me for God's sake to come.

The little boy came down to you did he, and then you went
up. torher room? A Yes sir, she was lieing on a
mattress behind the door.

Did you notice her condition? A. Her face was black
and her eye hanging on her cheek.

court. Q. Which eye% A. I could not really say but I
got sick to my stomaqh. She asked me would I do an errand

and go to 5 Batavia Street to tell her sister and I done

SO.

Weeks. . That was on ionday? Yes sir, I believe

it was,
Dia you sec her again before she went to the hospital?
A. No sir, I never spoke in my life to her,
Did you see her husband George Whittel? A. I seen him

goinz in and out.

On Sunday, +the day before that? A. T could not
really tell, I never seen him any more.

Court &. What time in the day on Monday was it when you
went up therey A. It was about nine o'clock in the

morning, it was between nine and hall rast eight for my

baby was sick at the same +ime..
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CROSS EXAMINED by Counsel,
How long have you lived where you do now?
living there four years.
You are é married Wbman? A. Yes sir.
tht is your husband's business® A. He works down.
at coal corner of Rosevelt Street and New Bowery for Mr.
Connors.
How long have you been marriedé A. I have been mar-—
ried twelve years next monthe. .

How many children have you? two living

and thrce dead.
You live in a basement? A. I 1live in a.basement.
Oppésité Mr. Whittel's? A. No, on the othe'r side
Tacing the fr;nt. . .

Q. Wherc is Whittel's, front or rear?

4A. It 1s in the rear, on the other side on the first

floor.

And your basement was on the opposite side=s A. Yes sip,

I not near him at all.

By Mr. Weeks_ g+ You had the front basement: A. Yes sirv,

Q-

Whittel and Mrs. Slattery had the back on the first floor,
one on one side and the other on the other,én the other
‘side of the hallway? A. Yes sir.

el. Q. How long have you known Whittel? A. Only
three or four months, while he was living there.

You have seen him often? A. No sir, I only seen him

very seldom walking in and out.

Do you know Lirs. Whittely A. I seen her going to the

hydrant for water, walking in and out.




Cour+t. Q. The water is in the yard? A. Yes sir,
sel, Q- Did you ever see her going out for beer?

A. I did not,

_Did you ever see her have any beer or any liquor of any

kind? A. No sir, I.d4did not,
Did you ever see her when she appeared to be under the

influence of liguor? A. No sir, I d4id not, for I

had no discourse with her.
-You never had any discourse with hers A. No sir.
But her little boy came down into your apartments

A. Yes sir’

You went up in a hurry? A. I went up.

2
Where was she, A. She was lieing on a mattrass be-—

hind the door,

On the floore A. Yes sir.

On a bed, the only bed they had tie re? A. They had no

bed but the mattress was lieing on the floor,

And what did you see there? - A. I saw her eye hanging

out on the cheek.

dow far did it hang outv ) A. I could not really tell
for I got sick to my stomach.

You do not know which eye it was? A. I do not know,

I did not wait to look mach either.

.

Did you run away from her? . A . Indded I did.

What did you do? A. I went home to my baby sick in

the cradle.
Did you tell any your neighbors about

A. No sir,

,.

gourt. Q. Did you go after her sister? went after

hexy sister.

S T




Le1.~Q When did you go after her sistere Ar» That morn-

ing I went back to0 sece my baby and I went after her sister

then.
After that you went for her sister? A. Yes sir,
Do you know how long Mrs. Whittle had been sick at that

time? . A. I do not know.

Has not she always been sick ever since you have known

her there? A. I do not know nothing at all about it

any more

Dida you know that she had consumption? A« I did not,

Tor I was not acquainted with them.

You never heard that she had consumpt ion? A . No sirp,
I 4aid not,.

Then you never had mich to do with her-< A. No sir, I

had nothing at all to do with her, that was the Tirst time
I ever put my foot inside ke rndoor.

You never knew of her quarreling with her husbande

£Le Ho, I never heard her for T had no interference

with them.

iWeeks. Q. You said, #rs. Driscoll, that you went to her

|
j sister's, you did not mean that exactly? A. I did not
i

&0, I told her I would send a little girl.

You say you saw Mrs. Whittel several times before this

onday? A A. I seen her going in and out at the hydrant
Did you ever see her with 2 black and blue face or eye

before? . A. I did not.

§e1;'é. You said that you went and saw your baby and then
you went for the sister? A. Yes, I sent for her

saster.
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Q- j| You said you went for her? A. No,” I sent for her

sister,

By _the [jourt. Q. What is the name of the littie girl you sents

| she has a step~father.:

i
4
By Cou}éel. Q. How o@ld is she
Q-[

child.

MARIA PANNING, sworn and examined.
Weeks. q You live &t 22 Cherry Street, Mrs. Panning?

Ae Yes sir, on thé same Fflooxr

that is the wife of ithis defendant George Whittel?
L 4

A. Yes sir

Q.g Did you go into her room¢ A. Yes sir, I diaq.

Q- '1’ And did you find her tre re, A. I found her lieing in
i the little bed behin: the door.

Q-h And did you notice her condit on? 4. Yes sir, her
f eye was on her cheek.

Q-! And how about her face; £. One side of her face was

black.

Q- .You thensent for her sister diad you at her request?

.

A. Yes sir,

By thg Court.Q. What day was that? A. That was on Monday

morning.

A.iHer nare is Jennie Connolly —--- Jennie Sullivan,

A She is about eight years old.

She is not your child then? A. No sir, she is not my

Do you remember being sent for by Mrs. Whittel one day.

|
|
|




CROSS EXAMINED.

sel. Q. What floof do yoﬁ occupy in 22 D

same floor.

The same floocr as Whittel? A. Yes sivr.

‘Ffont or rearé » A. Front and he lived in the back,
ih the rear,

How long have youa occupied those rooms<y

best of my knowledge about nine gears.
You remember when the defendant and his wife came in therev

A. Some four months from that time, I think.

How far is your room from theirs? Ao That I couald

not £t ell you.
Court.- Q. What floor are you on? A. On the same Ffloor
in the front, I live in the front and they lived in the

. back.

Does Lirs. Slattery live there? A. HKrs. Slattery lives
opposite Whittel, right on the same flcor.

Whittel's rooms are in the rear of yours?

A. Yes sif, the rear of mine.

You are in front? A. Yes sir.

Weeks. Q. Four apartments on anfloor? A. Yes sir,
unsel. Q. Where is the door in regard to the entrance to
Whittel's room? A. Whittel's room is in the back of

mine.

How far is your door from Whittel's door?
good distance, I could not tell you.

As far as from you to the wall? ves, further than

that.

They had been there about four months A. That is all}

I




Does your rooms come up ¥o his inany way?

A No sir, mine comes on the same side'as
tery, mine isfacing the front yard.
¥hen did you first learn that Mrs. Whittel was
A. After she sent for me.
Mionday

And that was what day of the week?

morning. -

You daid not hear any disturbance in her room that nighte

A. No sir, not at aill, I did not,
Do ybu'know Mrs. Slattery? A . Yes sir,
She lived on the same side of the hall that you do?
A. The same side of the hall.
. She did not go into your room and tell you anything

had happened that night in Whittel's room?

A. No sir,
You knew nothing about her being ill until she sent for
you? A. Nothing at all until she sent her 1little
boy after me.
You weﬁt in there and she was lieing on the mattress behing
the door? A. Yes sir.

What was her condition®? A. Her eye was mach out on

her cheek.
How far dia it hang down? A. I could not tell you, I

did not look, it was about here I guess (pointing).

Court, . You saw it, didn't you? A. Yes sir, I could

not tell how far it was out on her cheek.

But you saw it hanging down on her cheek?

A. Yes sirx.

How often about did you see Mrs. Whittel since she has been

living there? A. Sometimes in the morning she would

|
|
l
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be outside-

Outsidey in the yard or in the hall®? A. In the hall or

in the ya;d, I never spoke with her.
sel.- Q- Did you see her every day? Yes sir, afyer
she got ill.

'Before she was 1il1l, after she had moved in how often did

you see hexre A.I saw her pass up and down, I never

spoke to the woman.

Did you ever hear orf any quarrels in her rooms the ree

A. No sir, I never heard nothing wrong.
b

Did you ever hear her falling? A. o sir, I never

heard her falling.

Never heard that she fell at any time? A. No sir,

Dia you ever see her‘dripk liquoxr? A. NO.

Never have heard ii by aﬁy of the neighboxs or from any

source that she ever drank? A. No sir.

Bttt o

WVhat did y-u do after you went in there?

e

4A. T sent for her sister,

By t®e )l gourt. Q. Whom did you sends There was a little

L

girl went after her sister.

By Cou%éei. Q- Did you send the little girl? A. Yes sir,
By the“ﬁourt.

i Q- Is that the same little girl tha+t Mrs. Driscoll

sente A. Yes sir.,

By Cou@sel. Q. What else diad you do? A. I AQone nothing else.

I came out into my own room afterwards
You did not remain there until the sister came?

A. No sir

Did you report this to anybody, what you had seen in there?

A. Nothing further ———-—




Court. Q. You séﬁ this woman lieing on the cot?
A. Yes sir.
With-her eye out and face black? ' A. Yes sir.

You sent for her sisters A. Yes sir

Q- Then did you +tell thatsto anybody? A. I told it to

some of the neighbors.

By CouTsei. Q@ You told it to some of the neighborse . A.Yes sir,

Q-

By iir.

Who did you tell it to? A. To somebody; in the
house only.

Give us the names of anybody that you told that to?

A. To Lirs. Conroy the house-keeper,

' ELIZABETH DALEY, sworn and examined.

}Weeks_ é  Where ddwyou'live, Mrs. Daley? A. I
i
f

live in 27/iifunroe Street.

Do you know the defendant George

A. Yes sir, he is my brother—-in-—law

His wife was your sis+tere A. Yes sir.
What was her'naneé A. Catherine White.
How long had they been marriede A. I believe they

are married going on six years.

Do you remember receiving a message from Lirs. Driscoll and
Mrs. PFanning? A Yes-sir, I 4aiaq.

When ye was that? A It was the 1éttor end of No-
vember, it was Monday morning I know, I was lieing in bed
a little girl came up, I hearad ﬁer inquiring for Lrs. Dal ey.
You then went to see your sister? . A. Yes sixr.

How did you find her? A. I found her lieing on the

mattress on the floor.
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‘What condition did you find her in? A. She was lieings

down on her right side, she had a rag over her face and I

said to her, "my God.H"

Did you see herface? A. Yes sir, her face was all

black and blue and all full of blood.

Hov about her eye s, A. It seemed to me as if her

eye'was on her cheek, she said she could sce out of it.

Q- It scemed as though it was out on her cheek? 4A. Yes
sir, the white ball like and black around it.

What did you then do? A. I warmed some water and I

bathed her face.

Did yeou mm &0 anywheres from there?

~A. Mo s1r, I remained there =211 that day until her /

husbanad came home in the evenlng, I met him in the evening.

This defendant, “feorge Whitdel? A. Yes sivr

What comversation did you have with him when he came in?
A. I met himon the street, he was going along the
street near the gutter and I said +to him, "my God, George,

Tar,

what happened Guwesae?" lie says, "Lizzie, I don't know, I

|
- !
don't know how it happened. I says, "my God, that is +the ;
}
last of her, she will surely die. George said, Yshe will i
not. " I said, "she needs a doctor®; George said, "no,
don't think she needs =a doctor.V I said, "very well", anii

I remained there that night until nine o'cloeck and I went

frghwe o -

home and the ﬁext morning George came in the house and he

called me; it was around half bpast eight then and he told

e svaied

me she wanted me, I stayed there and that day George cange
gome at eleven o'clock to see how she was.
That was Tuesday, the 25th? . Ae Yes siv.

gourt. Q. You remained all day Monday? A.




Dia you'remain all Monday night? A. No sir, I re-

mained there until nine o'eclock.

A Yes sir, I left him with his

fhen‘you went home?

wife,

And the next morning, Tuesday, you came again?

A. Yes sir, I aiad.

What time did you come? A. It was around half Pasit

eight,

Was he there then® A. No, he had his hat andcoat on,

he came after me, he came to my house and called me from

the yard and told me to 80 around to Katie, she wanted me.

!

Weeks. Q. You went arocund tle re¢ Ae Yes sir,
He came in at eleven o'cloeck on +hat day? A. Yes sip,

to see how she was.

Did you have any further conversation with him on those
days as to how it happened? A. Wo sir, I did not.
Court. Q. Did you have any talk with him at all about the
condition of this woman®? A. No sir, I did not any
-more than I‘just said to him, "seorge, what happened Katie”
He told me he did not know, he did not remember an ything

about it. I asked her what was the matter.

Did she speak? A. Yes sir_
Was he there at the time9 A. No sir,
-On Tuesday dia yoﬁ speak to here .A-‘Yes sir, I a4aia,

Was he there at tie time you spoke to here A. No siry,

At any timeso A. Yes, he was, in the evening, I

remained there every evening until he came home.

What d4id you say to her and what did she say in his pres-—

ence? . A- Oh, I could not exactly say.




By Mzr.

Tell us as near as you can? A. lle kept giving her

warm drinks of tea and he asked her how she felt? She
said she was getting along nicely; she sat up by the
‘stové and when she was not able to he lifted her up out of

her ot and put a gquilt under her feet and read the Paper

to her.

about? A. No sir.
You did not say anything about itv Ae Wo siyr, I did
not wish to raise no trouble with the man, I did not think

it was my place for fear of getti ng into the hands of t1e

law,

Weeks g You say that you ® und her face black and blue

and her eye as yoﬁ-expre;sed it, lieing out on her face?

A. Yes sir .

Did you examine her at all? A. Yes sir. I did but

not until the Hight she was taken in the anbulancé.

That was on the night of the 4th of December, Thursday?
A. Yes sir, the 4th of December.

How did you #f nd har body when you examined it?

A. Her body was all black and blue.

[Court. Q- About her upper rortion? A. No sir, hér back.
|

Towards tle side? A« HWo sir, right around the shoul-—

ders in the middle of the back.

How about her eyver? A. Her eye was hanging on her

cheek.

Was nothing done for this woman from the time her eye was

out until she was brought away in the ambulance?

A No sir, only to bathe her face with luke

Was nothing at all said about how this condition was brought]

e e e e e et
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Veeks{ Je You have told ﬁs»what happened on ilonday =anad

Tuesday; what happened on Wednesday, the 28th of Yovembers
» 'Ar I kept going there steady attending to her and on
the 26th of Hovemberrl found she wags “gettiné‘worSé and I
notified‘the captain.of police, I went to tix Captain of
the Oék Stréet station house and he sent Detectiv e Canavan
around with me; he came around and he asked what was th.e

mattexr.

Was George there at that time? A. No sir,

The detective came aroand? A. Yes sir,

And they did nothing further at that time?

Were you there when the ambulance came? A. Yes sir,
Was_her husband there then? A. Mo sir, he had been

there that night though.

Court. g. What time dia the‘ambulance come, what time of
day? A. Tt was ﬁ&t in thé.day, around half past ten
at nigint.

Was he not +there then? A. No sgir, he was not.

Weeks. 2. Héve you ever had any conversations witih the de-—
Tfendant as to how your sister received the se injuriese

A. No sir, I never made it my business +to aék him
anything at all about it.

couft. Q She was your own sister? A. Yes sir, she
was my sister; she did not want no one to interfere.

Weeks, Q. Dbid you éee her at the hospital? ‘ A. Yes sir,

I aid, I visited her.

After she was dead? A. Mo, not alfter she was dead,

before she was dead.

Court. Q. She was buried somewhere? A« Yes sir, she was

buried in Calvary Cemetiry.




Did not you seé her coffin and remains? A. Yes sivr,

i She was taken from my. room.

:fo Mr. W{Véeks: Q. You saw ter after she was dead and you att,ended

her funeral at Calvary Cemetery? A. Yes sir,

By thel court. Q. How old a woman was shee A. She was twenty-‘

four years old,

"CROSS EXAMINED.
sel. n. Your sister was il1l, was she not? A. She was

ill wien she lived in Batavia Street Ffor =a short time.

She had been ill with consumption for a short +time?

A. No sir, she never had consumption that I know of,

I never knew that she had it.

Had sle _notAb‘een treated in July for consumption?

A Ko sir,

What time did you get down there, when 4did you first see
her after this injury? A. It was some time around tle

20th of November,

What day of the week®? A- It was tonday.

What time of day? A. It was around half past eight

in the morning.

You came into the room wle re she wasy A. Yes sir,

And who was there; A. There was nobody but herself

her son Edward was the re a little boy opened the door and

let me in.

George was not 'thex"_e: A. No sir,

When 4dAid you sece Georgeé A. I seen him that evening_

What did you say to him? A. I said to him, "my God,
George, what happened Katie"; lhe said, "I don't k now,

Lizzie, I don't know how it happened, I cannot account




-

T4 5a 4 v ek

for it."n

Did not he say to you that she said that she fell on the

bsﬁeps? "f'*g. Nb sir, she never said that to me.

Did he not say. that to you in substance? A. He said
she fell. |

In her presence. A. No sir; not in her preséncé-l
Was She not theré? X Mo sir, she was in her own room
he was on the street;

Y§u met him in his room, did youw not¢ A. Yes sir.
ﬁhat did you say to him? A i did not say nothing at
all to him in the room, I met him outside because I thought
he mig}m objec£ to the neighboré coming in. He was going
aiong thé gutter and I.said to-him, *my God, George, What'
- happened Katiev® He said, "Lizzie, I dén"b know, I don't

know how it heppened"; he said she said that she fell.

That was on the street but not in her room.

By the Cdurt,"Q. That was in the street? A. Yes sir, not

in her presence, I went ipto the room with him, we had no
further conversation about it.
1sel. Q. Did not you have any further conversation in the

room? A. No sir.

There she lay with her féce blackened: A. Yes sir,
And her eye as you thought, was out on the cheek?

‘A. Yes sir, she told me she thought she could see out

of it.

court. Q. You must have said sométning? A. I asked her
if ghe would not like to go to the hospitaly She said no.

Then I said, "Katie, I willlget a doctor." She said, "nd,

don't fetch a doctor, George will be arrested." I saiq, -




Yyou mast have somebody, I am poor; I cannot look out for

,
s

yOu. T

sel. n, Was George there? £. No sir,
You remained how late that evening. - A. Mine o'cloek.
Then you went home, who did yYyou leave therev

A. I left neor husband with her, he was sitting by the

stove reading the paper.

While you were there what daid he do* A. He was read-
ing 211 the itime while I was there.

You testified to his having given her nourisiment and car-—

ing TFfor he re A. Yes sir, he had tea and there was
gruel on the stove.
Court. Q. Who made thec gruel? A. I did not make it,
he muast have made it himself.
1sel. g, Me 1lifted her off the bed on to the chaire

A. Yes sir, he lifted her up and gave her drinks, I
saw him doing that.
He 1lifTted her tenderly-® A. He did while I was the re,

I do not know what happened when I went out.

How long had they been marriede. A. Going on six

years I believe’

LY

Where had they lived during the six years? A. Lived

Cherry Street, the number T do not know, I suppose he
knows the number himself, and they lived in iatavia 5t.
22 Cherry Street.

During any of that time did you live there with them?

A. Yes sir, I aidq,

How nmmuch of that time were you with them? A. I could

not exactly say but the biggest rart of the time I lived

withh them and they lived with me during the time they have

been marrieq.
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What do you say as to their living peacefully or otherwise?

A. I do not know: I could not exactly”say, they have.hadi_
a great many &Eérréis I know but I never saw them strike
each other.'ﬂ

Dia yoﬁ»ever see him use any violence toward her in your
life<e A. No sir, I never saw him strike her.

Your sister drank sbmetimes, didn't she? A. Yes sir,
she tock a glass of beer once in a while with her husband and
offen with me.

She took a glass of béer if she had a chance? A. Yes sir.
Did she ever take any whiskey? A Yes_sir,'she diad
during the time she was sick but not to excess.

She'did drink it when she could get it? A. Yes sir,
she ai d -

And went out for it at times<? A. Yes sir.

And sent her children ou+t Tor it? A. She nad only a

little boy five yecars old.

‘He did not get any? No sir, who would sell a 1ittle]

boy like him whiskey?
Or beer? A, No sir, he did‘not.
You do not think that the bruises on hor shoulders were
causcd by any vimlence from George, do yout A. I could
not exactly sgy anything about that, I do not know how she
could\get them.
Could not she get them by lying in bed on her shoulder on a
hard mattress? A. No sinr.
Would it not be possible’? A. I think not.

Redirect examination by Mr. Weeks.
Did you ever see your siste:_under the influencevdf‘liquor?

A. Yes sivrv, I aia.




CAnd have you ever seen her husband under the influence of

liquore? A. Yes sir,'I did.

Frequenmlyfgr not? A. Yes sir.

Qs THdwifrequently have you ever scen Hrs. Whittel under the in-

A. I have not'see her under the

fluence of liguox?

i
t

i : : .
] influence very ofien because she did not have mach hand in

h
H
i
{
i

‘{his money to get it.

‘
1
i
i
H
H
i

they quarrel?

i
H

i S
}5 While you lived with them how frequently dia
o . o
: A. They did not qQuarrel mach while I lived with them,

‘very seldom.
A. Yes sir,

By Cdﬁnéel. Q- You never drank 1iquor yourself?
I did, with her and with him too.

Q-f{You did not regard him as of & quarrelsonenature, did you?

I know he has a very cranky temper and he knows that

!

i

( A.
!“ |

;ghimself.

| But he was not rParticularly cranky when he got a little

f;whiskcy taken, was he? A. He says so himself wvhen he

drinks whiskey but no+ when he takes beerp.

' Beer has a soothing effect upon him? A. Yes siw.

MARGARET FEENEY, sworn and examined.

By. lxr. Weeks. Q. Where do you live? A. T ilive No.5 Batavia St,

O Yyou know the defendant? A. Yes sir.

s wife «atherine Whittel was a sister of yours, was she?

A. Yes sir.
Cherry Street on
A. Yes sir.

hat was the day when she was taken away in an ambulance,




it not¢? : A. Yes sir.

you there have any COnversation with your sister while

the defendant George Whittel was present? A. Yes sir.

A. Yes sir.

Was he near enough +to hear +the conversation®?

WVhat was the conversation? A. I knocked on the floor

S ’ .
Béﬁ%é’her two or three times when I went in,

to my sister, I

I spolke

I went in and her face was in a terrible condition.

Cc o=

i
i
|
¢

to hexr and she did not answer me, I then shook her up a

H

.!
|

Ple of +times, he was sitting by the stove; then I said to

”her, "I guess I will

@ send Lizzie down,

be going" and I said to George "I will
Before 1 left her bedside she grabbed

me by the sacque and said, "Maggie, he kicked me in ihe side’]

and that is all she ever said to me.
then you left and went +o your sister'se?

A Yes sir.

you leave her there then? A. Yes sir.

long were you with hers A. About fifteen or twenty

"minutes, I was after coming from work in the evening.

i

f?Tell us what her condition was when you saw le ro
A. She was lying upon the floor on a mattress and her

: was all swollen, it was all black and blue and her eye

f_was completely out of the socket, it was on her cheek.

:
'
)
‘

' Do you know which eye it was? A. No sir, I do not,

then I weont up to my sister lirs. Daley.

Is that all you sawe? A. Yes sir.
And ‘that is all the conversation you had with her in the

bPresence of her husband? A. Yes sir, only I spoke

5fto him during the time and said, "George, would it not be

<jnice if I went for the priest’
’ .
the gourt. Q. You said what to him?

¥
|

5
s
l

A. I says, "George




ﬁWuldlitnnot‘bé_nice if I went up after the priest?v Theﬁ
hé gévé-ma a Smutty answer and I 4did not say ény mafe to him.
What wés'the answeir? A A He said, "to hell with
the priestY and ﬁhen I left the room and went back to my

sister'se.

CROSS EXAMINED. .

i

ocunsel. @ When did you first hear of your sister's illnéss?

A. A week before I happened to go down the re

Who told you about ite A. Mrs. Daley.

i
]

What were you doing at the time she told y ou?

‘!
'
i
!
;
i
!

A. I was getiing my brother's supper ready.
;quu did not go down until a week had elapsed?

g A. O yes, I went down there that night.
]
i

h

“iCburt. Q- You did not hear of it until a week after it hap -

! pened is that it, when did you Ffirs+t hear of yYour sister's
??being beaten in this way? A. A week before, I hap-
E;pened to call in there from work.

;EDid you go down when you heard about her illness rigkt. away?

H A. Yes sir, I went down.

f?Was that the same time that she was hurt, how long had she

; been hurt when you went down to see her? A.  About a week.

i
i

And that is the Tirst time you heard of it, you went right
fgaway? A. Yes sir.

Byvcg%nsel. Q.- You were not notified then at a2ll until she had been

| hurt a week? ) A. The first time I heard it Mrs. Daley

told me.

When was that, how long after she ﬁas hurt?

A. A week before I called in there from work.
You heard of it a week before you went doanthere?

A. Yes sir. .




elcéurt. Q- You did not go down for‘a week?

down that night.

'Weeks. Q_'You remember When yYour sister was hurt?

A. Yes sir,

tell you

waklong after she was hurt did your sister Lizzie

about ite A. The week she [irst told me about it I

went down and secn her eye.
Lizzie +told you?

9

Thne very week she was hurt your sis ter

A- I do not know exactly whether it was that week or

not she was hurt.

When you first heard about it youa went to see your sister

9

and the first time that you went to see her was about a week

before she was taken away in the ambulance? A. Yes sir.

Between the Tirst time that you went +to see her and the last

time that you saw.her there in the house did you g0 toO see

her? A. No sir.

By Céunsel. Q. You heard of it several days before you went down
iy - - .

5§ there? A. Yes sir,
i .
i

A. I could not

i
WVhat day of the week daid you go there? 5
exactly‘tell you the first time but the second time I went g
down therec was Thursda&. §
.When did this conversation that you had take place? .

A. The second time, on Thursday.
What happened the Ffirst ﬁime you went down?

at al1l, I went in, I said, "well Katie, he fixed You." She

|

!

I

A. Nothing |
) |
!

i

I walked out, I was not Very anxious to

never answered me,
visit her house.

Why did not you stay and take care of her? A. Because

he was a very cranky man himself; me and.him could not agrce

e st T ;umg;a::::{w-"'

B O
Svtousbiragheiy

You did not stay because he was a cranky man himself?:

A. Yes sgir..




You went and did not visit her again in a week?

A. Yes siy,

'

she talked to you? A. Yes sir,

And this is the time

What did she sayq : A . She told me he had kicked her

in the side

Use her languages A. "Haggie, he kicked me in tle

that is all she said +to me.
A. "EKatie, I will be down

side,

What did you say to that?
;sagain, I will go up +to Lizzie", that is all I sald to her.

You did ncit ask her how it cccurred or anything about i+t?

A. No sir, I did not,

a

S (R P,

say that her eye was awvay out on her cheek?

A. Yes sir_

Did you ask. her about her ey e? : A. No siy, I aia not

"You made no inqairies, you were not exercised about her eye

at all, were you? A. How do you mean?

"You were not anxious about her?e A. Well, my goodness,

fflooking in her face I got sick in my stomach, I could not
stay there.

Is that why you left that time? A. No sir,

i You left beeause he was cranky? L. Yes sir, we never

could agree at all.

Is there anybody that can agree with you? Ae I think so.
. Your sister dranksome, did she not¢® A. Very little, the |

| . |
woman I suppe e who send for a pint of i

1

Same as every otle r

beer when they feel like ite.

-f¥ou think every woman drinks? A The best of women adrink

|
J
|
You drink? A. No sir, I do not. o l

You are not among the pest thene ‘si I s
: ' S

Have you seen yourxe




You never knew of their having previous quarrels?

A Yés sir. I aidqd. i

;Did you ever see them have a guarrely A. Yes sir, o'tené
' i

s
O )

. {
But you did not live in the familye? A. No sivr, I a4diqg nos!

You live alone, don't you 9 A. Yes sirv.

©

tﬁe gcourt. Q. You have a brother, didn'+t you say?

td
e

i
3
|

A Yes sir, me and my brother keep house together,

I

Weeks_ é You say that you have seeﬁ them quarrel?

o2
<
'3«

A. Yes sir,

Have you ever scen this defendant strike your sister be forev

A. Yes sir, I aid.

RIRBUIERSL it al eigh

Have you ever seen him under +the influence of 1i uor?
q

. s,...mm.

A. Yes sir, I aid,

1'How Tfrequently? A. Just as often as the weather was

wet I seen him under the influence of 1iguoxr only when he

did not have any money and that was very seldom.

What was this Prisoner's cccupation? A. Boot-black .

" And when the weather was wet he did not attend to his busi-
ness<? A. No six
He used to romain at home? A. Yes sir,

On those occasions he was in the habit of getting intoxicate&{

i

5
)
i

A. Yes sir,

Q.f~When he was intoxicated was he quarrlesome? A. Yes siv,

How many times have you seen him sirike your sistere

A. That would be Pretty hara to tell, pretty often I

i guess.

Q- | More than once® A. Yes sir.
i
1

Q. When<? A. O, often through their married lifeg

By Counsel .

2220

I could not exactly tell you when.

How many years ago? . A. I suppose it is 5@wéen Qnefu -

o




Is that as near as you can set at it9 A. Yes sir.

A. Yes sir,

It was morxre than one year ago?

(| ﬂow long before her death? ) A. They lived in

many buildings, T guess through their married liife,

Ynot really tell you.

You can tell within a year, did you see him strike blows a

A. O yes.
A. I do not exactly know how long ago it is,
Street, I seen him gtrike her the re.:

Sometimes when he would call her she would not come down

' but when she came down he would kick her.

Did the defendant kick orstrike her? A. Both-

When was that? A. When he lived in Batavia Strec:.

I don't know how long ago it is.
Is it two years ago? A« No sir, I do not think it

that long.

Q{; Was she drunk? A. No sinr.

Q{ You are friendly with the defendant, are you not?

A. No siy.

Q- i You never have becn friendly with him? A. O yes.

H

-»Q.ﬁ How often? A. We never could agree together.

By Mr. Weeks, Q. You are less Triendly since your sister'’s death?

No answer.

MARY SLATTREY recalled by Mr Weeks.
» as you have testifiedq, you saw Mr. Whittel strike his
did you heér him say anything at that fime?
A. As he étruck her he saig he would'punch her sides in,

is what he said.
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A. He said he would punch her sides in,

that's what he said.
Pﬁnch her face in? A-. That is what he saiaq, fhat is all.
Weeks. Q. Is that all that you heard him say?
A. That is all I heard him say; all the time he was
ftalking to himself in and out when he was drunk.
Now try and remember what You told Mr. Davis and told me
!yoﬁ also heard him say, tell the Jury what that wasy
A. I do not remember any more, ihat he'said'anything

else.

the cgourt Q. Have you now told the District Attorney all that

S you rcemember? A. I do remember that.

‘Q.i Listen to me, hold up- A. That is all I can remember.

[ - .
| Listen to what T say to you and stop talking. Have you now

Q:|
;fstated to the District Attorney all that Yyou recoliect that

fthe defendant said at the time that you saw him strike his

A. Yes sir, as he was striking hexr, I have,
:jthat is all he said,“I will punch your face", as ¥r hit her.
Punéh her facee A. Yes sir.
more than once’ " A. That is all
QJE Only once<¢ A. Once, Judge.
Céunsel, Q@ Did you testify to that before the Coroner's
) A. Yos sir.
You swore to that, did you? A. O yes, that is
can say.
1 You swear that you testified before the Coronexr that he
said as he struck her in the face that he woula runch her
face in, you sweér to that bositively that you swore to.thé&

‘before the Coroher? - A. That is all I could swear he'




said, and he was very, very drunk the same time.

Do not forget to bput that in, sandwicech that in, vere youw-

very drunk? A- No sir, I was not, I had my supper,

I drank a little with my sister when she come s to see me buw

5With any. other I do not.

Your sister is the only one you drink withe A. That

Do you keep ligquor in the house? A. No, I do not,

a sup-
You send for it when you wank it9
sout for it. .
You drink i+t sometimes when your sister ié not arounde?

A. No, I do not, only when she comes, not a sup.

You swear to thate A. Yes sir.
.3

Mn} Weeks. Q Do you remember now whether you gave that testi-~

'mony before the Coroner's inquest or not as to what Whittel

i
|
i

[ saidar A- I could not tell you any more.
-But whether you dia give that or not it is true that he did

i say that? A. Yes sir,

IELIZABETH DALEY recalled by Mr. Wecks,

Were you in George Whittel's apartments the night that Y our

- sister Catherine Whittel was taken awvay in an ambulance;
A. Yes sif.

Before the ambulance was sent‘for was the defendant Georgév
;:Whittel in the room? A. Yes siyp,
» Who went for the ambulancee? A. His brother ﬁent.
i And after his brother had gone out for the ambulance what

"became ol George Whittel? A. I do no+t know, sir, ne

i went oute.




A. He went to the

What did he do before he went out®

buréau drawer and tbok some pictures, he had Photographs of

himself and his wife and I believe there was a picture of

his son the re.

;‘When did you next see him? A - The next time I saw him

uptown.

Was that after Lirs. Whittel's funeral? A. Yes sgir.

L ©

Was he prsseﬁt @t her Tuneral? A. Mo sir.

ByQC&phsel. Q.- Who did you first tell that you saw him take picture%
‘ out of the bureau drawer? . A. I have not told anybody '

I

“until I told Mr. Davis.
;Did You not see George at the Court house the day after his

wife died and heée was getting some money to bury here¢

1 «

A. Yes sir, I aia.

i
§?I£ is not ﬁrﬁe what you just testifisd to, undoubtedly you

f:made a mistake +th=at you did not see him from the time that
you were waiting for the Coroner or +the ambulance to come
until you saw hin in the Coronexr's office?

-

A. Yes sivr, I saw him in the court-room, I made a mis-—
take.
After your sister's death yYyou saw him? A. Yes siy.

Q. ! And next in the Coroner's officee A. Yes sir.

Ny

ByAM%. Weeks. Q.iThat is you did not see him between the day youryr

! sister died on the S5th of December and the 1lth of December

when he was at the Céroner's office; that was the day that

she died that you éaw him in the Court Hb the 5th of De-
’ that day.

You did not see him again after that day when you saw him in

the Court house until you saw him at the Coroner's office on

e

the 11th .of Decembers _ A. That was the exact“tiﬁéfpf:‘

S
Sty

saw ‘him.




A1 e Weeks,
oFf the defendant?

22 Cherry Street.

She.was then alive,

5
!
|

i Al

i
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I
]
i
i
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' When did you next see her alfter that?

{noticed
i
i

Sergeant -?—;—'~-

she was thenvlying on the flocyr in

You were sent there by

of the 4th w1th a note from Dr.

JOHN CANAVAN, sworn and examined.

Q. When did you first sece Catherine Whittel,

A. On the

the wife

26th of November at

A. Yes sir.

onbthe left hand side of the roome.

And 'in what condition did you Tind her tle re,
Her face was all black and her eye was blcoody;

the room on a mattress

the Sergeante A. Yes sirvr,

A. The next T

bhe brotle r come to the Station House on the evening

Hemmingway telling the

“"After he came to the station house what did y:ou do?

A. I went to 22 Cherry Street.

j A nd there you saw

into an ambulance.

her again?

In what condition was shhe then?

By tﬁe Court.

)
i
.

i Did you notice he:r Fface at that time?

face was black.

Did you notice the

stretcher and put in the ambulance;

condition of her

A. I saw her again going

A. She was pretty low.

Q- Was she lifted and carried down stairs out on a

A. Yes sir.

A. I noticed her

eye at that

A. No, the eye was covered with a clo+th.

By Mr. Weeks, é_

ant thereso

oo

A. No Slr

D1d you subsequently arrest this defendant?

Do yYyou know When he was arrested?

When you got to 22 Cherry Street was this defend-—

"A. No sir.

A. gave himself




up at tle Coroner's office.

When was 'Ehat? A. That was about the 1l1th of Décember.

Was it the day of the examinati on¢? A . The day before

the examinati one.

Tha'b is the IOtk of Decem’ber, between tre 4th and the IOth

of December did you make any efforts to find the defendan+t?

A. Yes sir, I was in Brooklyn, I was in Jersey, I was
his brother's house and. I watched around where +le de-

Batavia Street to see if he would

-

show up at the funeral and I could nox see any sign of t

young mane. .

During all that time you made efforis to Find him®?

A._ Yes;_sir'

CROSS EXAMINED.

E
t
|
i

By Counsel Q. Did you have. gz warrant for his arrest?

i
1i

A. No s.ir,
Dia you have any otie r business in Jersey? A. No sir.
Why did you go to Jer;se»,y? A. I was téld that e Was_.iE
over that wé.y. .
Who told you that? . A. A certain rParty gave me the in-
formation, I think it was Mrs. Daley told me tha+t he was
over there, ﬁhat he wa_s.. in the habit of soing over +tle re.
And that he was in the hablt of going to Brooklyn and was
in 'bhe habit orf staylng in the e¢ity too? A. Yes sir
Did you look about the city a good deal? A. She told me:
where his brother lived in Madison Street.
Where :did you stand when you were waiching?

standing on the corner.

What day of the week was it that you called at 22 Cherry the

Pirs+ time? - ' A. I could. not




more ihéﬁ'it'ﬁas'thevzsﬁh of +the nwnth.h'
Yes sir.,

vau heard that sﬁé*héd been injurede. : A.

You say that her~right eye was black? A. Yes sir,

when I gbtvinwfhé room she was lying on the floor with =a

cloth over the eye.
She removed the cloth so that you saw her eyve?

I immediately saw her sitting up in the

;
!
‘
§ A. Yes sivp,

bed. without any assistance from me.

AN Swollen,l

Her eye was badly blackened and swollen?

hanging dowh on her cheek?

i
i
{
;
!
i
H
3

Was it out of the socket,

:? A. It was bulged right out .

It was not hanging out on the cheek? A. NO.

0TIt was badly swollens? A. Swollen, bulged righ+t out.

3You noticed no other bruises about her face? A. On the

ﬁight’side of the iaqé_seemed to be all the pain in the vi-

b einity of the eye;
kWhat'position'was'she in the room and wha+t part?

A. She was 1lying on the mattress on the left ha d side

f;of thhe room behind the door.

';Lodk at that rough draft and see whether it is a fair repre-

! sentation of the defendant's room® A. That is correct.

¥ Do the dotted lines in that representation represent the po-
"sition the mattress was in¢ A. That is where <+the mat ~ !
tress was as you opened the door the mattress'lay behind tte

doox. The room was no more than about twelve by ten;

stove was about ei ght or ten fect from the door direcfly

opposite the door as you go in aﬁd then thevre was a chair

alongside of that.

How near tl» bed was that stove? A. I shoulad thinkmit

would be about +two or three feet.




-judge that would be about two orvthree_feet.
‘f@ft:

i:éf the deceased;

;ﬁbw;gear was the chair to this mattress®? A.'INShbgldi
The room which is marked A on the diagram is the room

the mattress is marked B and the - stove

marked C and the door marked D;  the chair marked E.

g

By a

i mattress was behind the doow.

i
:

By Counsel. Q.

|
'S'Yoxi say that the door of Mrs. Slatte“x_-y's room is
i .

I

dOOI‘?

Juror. Q. Was this woman's head towards the

A. Yes sir, tpwérd the doér,‘that,way, and the feet

towards the stove.
Could the bed orthe matiress be scen from the'hall?
A. No sir, not except you pushed the door in.

If the door was open could you sec ity A« No sir, the

The Court marked on the diagram the door of HHrs. Slat-—

i
3

tery's room F.
directly

i RN

opposite the door of the deceased wmﬂan's room?

{
;‘ - .
f A. Yes sir The door opened in toward the mattress. .

You stated that you fhought the room w:as about

i _ . : .
gtwelve fect long? A- Something about that distance,
! ) ;

ten or twelve, I dAid not measure it.

Refresh your recollection and siate would not you think tle>

room: was fully sixteen or eighteen Teet long?

A. No, I could not say.

Would it not be as long as from where I stand -to the window
in your Judgment? A. No, it is not as long as that .
Does the door open to the left of the room as you go into the

room? A. Yes sir, the door opens right in on +the mattfesL




,Cn.that’Sunday evening when you saw as you have testified,
'fhis defendant strike Mrs. Whittel, where was she in the room
_whén he struck = r, when she was lying there?

‘Not on the mattress? 'A. No, on the floor, righ+t in

unsel’ ?ou testified yesterday, did vou not, that she was §

e (Y e

i
]
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MARY SLATTERY recalled by Mr. Weeks,

A. On the floor,

front of the doof.

g -

on the mattress; w A. No, I did not say that, I said allg
the time on the floor, she was.lying down near the stove justg

opposite thé door,

On her side or on her back? A take any no-

tice which way she was lying.

You can tell whether her face was toward you?

could not,
Her feet pointed toward ithe stove, is that

A.'Yes sir.

GEORGE GAY,'sworn and examined by Mr.Weeks.
In Depember ;890, Doctor, you weré the ambulance surseon at
the Chambers Street Hospital ¢ A. Yes sir,
Do you remember being ecalled on the night of the 4th of De-
cember. to 22 Cherry Street?v A Yes sir, I was called
Did you there find Cathénine Whittel®? | A. I found a
woman whom the, said was of that name.
Whereiwas she;Doctor, when you firét‘got in?

A. She was 1lying on the mattress I think on one side

of the room,:




What was her condition? A. She was delirious.

Did you make any kind of an examinati ono A. Yes sivr, I

found as near as T can remember she had a bad cut under one

eye which presented +the appéarance of having been. there some-

time. .

Did you £ nda émy evidences of alcoholism? A. No sir.

‘She was removed to6 the Chambexr Street hospital?

TA. Yeé.sir‘
When you got-hér to-the Chamber Street hospital did you at-—
tepd her or somebody else? A. Somebody els ¢, sl |
?'was rut in bed. |

Was she undressed before she was put to bea?

AN At S T o

A. She haad nothing but a night dressnon and = shawl
| wrapped around her and a hlanket that I remember. I sent
immediately for the house surgeon and he took charge of her.

You mmde no further examinati on? - A. Ho sir.

Fred. L. Wells, sworn and examined.
Weeks. Q. In deceﬁber 1890, Doctor, were you house surgeon
at the Chamber Street Hospital? A. Yes sir,
Have ydu any recollection of one Catherine Whittel who was
brought there by Dr. Gay on thennight of +the 4th of December.i
A. T haQe an indistinect recollection now but nothing
definite whatever, nothing that I can swear to; I rememb er

indistinetly the name Whittel.

) >
Don't you keep some record, A. Yes sir, there is a

record in the hospital I believe.

Why did not you bring ite A. I am not in the hospital

now, I leTt tke hospital on the first of FPebruary.




'Théré'is a book kepit there éﬁball,ﬁhéséeéases, is there ndf}
g@d the iﬁjuriesz. . A;fes sir.

aDoes the house s;rgaon make an examination as soon as é paf
,ftient is put in his charge? A. Yes sir, he always
makes an examination. )
L IP ne diééo&ers any difference in the diagnoéis made by thg

ambulance surgeon he notes that change® A. Yes sir.

If he finds that the ambulance surgeon dAiagnosis correctly

he adopts it and does noi make any change, is that righte

A. Yes sir, that is right.

'fYou ﬁént to the hospital last night to endeavor to refresh
your recollection A. Yes sir, I went there about ten
o'clock lést night. |

i You have not succeeded in refreshing it? A. No siwvr.

WILLIAM A. COMWAY, swoxrn and examined.
; Weeks. Q. You are a deputy Co%oner of the eity éf New Yorke
A. Yes sir, so calleaq.

Did you on the 5th of December, 1890, make an autopsy ———e
you are a physician and surgeon? Ao I o3 a physician
bPracticing in New York city about twenty-five years and re~
siding =t 247 Bast Broadway. ‘
~Did.you on the 5th of Decémber, 1890,.make an aatopsylupoﬁ.

the body of Catherine Whittel? A. I did.

Where did you find +tha+t body? A. At theChamber Street
Hospit al.

Will yéu state to tﬁé Jury what tpe result of;your autopsy

was? . A. The external examinati on showed bruises*on




-faCe about four and a half lnches long on the rlght 51de,

’the lower eyelld was torm; there were bruises on the arms

and legs about an inech in size at varV1nb 1ntervals. The

1nterna1 examlnatlon showed that the Jungs were.fillad with

tubercles the rlght lung covered with pluretlc adhe51ons,

the kidneys fatty, the liver enormously enlarged and fatiy

and .about twice the normal size; -the other organs were nor-—

From the condition of

mal but énemic, bloodless, pale.

the organs tne Woman might have died at any moment from nat—

ural causes, and also il she haa been subgected to any vio~

1ence‘such as serlous all or a beating, undoubtedly hewr
death wou;d thereby have been accelerated.
What in your opinion waé the cause of death?

A. The cause of death was consumption, Bright's disease
Aéf the kidneys, fatty degeneration'eﬁnd enlargement of +the:
liver hastened by some exfernal violence.
I You say you found'the lower right eéyeliad toinz
t A. The lover right eyelid was torn.
?:What effeect Aid that produce upon the appearance of that eye? !
A. It gave the appearance of it 1lyijs over on the %

cheek, of course it did not lie over on the cheek, it ex—

posed the eye ball.

sufficient to have accelerated the death? Ae. Undoubtedlxj

" CROsSs EXAHINED by Coansel.

You say you found her afflicted with wha+t dlaeases9

A. COmsumptlon, fatty degeneration of the liver,

emlargement of the liver, the liver was about twice the noy-—

mal size and the kidneys showead’ Bright's disease.

i




ﬁThéy are‘very Seridus diseasess yes, at least

they Were all very far advanced.

gAnd were necessarlly fatal soonexr. or later?

‘fAndgmqst bring deéth, either oﬁelof ti1em?
;the ﬁﬁhsis’is very'far advanced.

And thc fact that she had these nemerous diseases makes you

believe that death was 11kelymto come at any moment without

,the aid of any external violence whatever°

A. Yes sir, her condition was such that death might have

)
]
i
L

ensued at any moment.
What causes Brighf's>disease, Zoctor? A. Various
things cause it.
Excessive drinking A. Sometﬁbs that is one of the
réauses. | |
Tﬁe br@isés on her,facé could have becen caused from a fall
-against some hard instrument or against a stove?
A. Yes sir, it could have beeni:
éould the bruise have been done with a blow from the open
hand? A. No, I don't think it bPossible, a bruise
might be caused from a blow by the open hand al though it
would hardly be possible I think, I might qualify that if it
was a back h.a.nded blow it might be caused by it but I think
hardly a blow Tfrom the palm of the hand would do it.
Could it have been caused by a single blow from the Tist?
A. Yes, it might be caused by a blow from the fits if

the fist was a poverful fisg, if it was a very Powerful, bony

fist it might cause it.
You spoke ol bruises found upon her legs, describe those

-bruises? A. They were what is ordlnarlly called

;black and blue spots at dlfferen 1ntervals, you couldgnot'f




f‘place them iﬁ any partieular spot, they were all along over

“the 1egs_énd drms I think.
It does nos take.very severe bruises to cause those black and
biue spots does it, on the'flesh of a woman?

A. No, it would not.

Any sligkt Fallg or the running against a table or anything

‘? .

tof that kind would tend to bring that about, would it not,

Doctor?e A. It would take aprectty good deal of force

a bakck and blue spot of

‘a good deal of violence to causc

that character, if she Ffell violently against any object it

might do i+t.

You are not prepared to swear that this woman's death was
caused by reason of those bruises on her face?

A. NO.
diseéses which he

hw Court: He says that was caused by +those

has indicated superinduced or accelarated by violence, is

that it A. Yes sir, by violence,.I do not say that

one particular bruise aig it, I say taking the whole of tle.

evidences of the bruises.
1. Q. You are not able to swear positively that they ae-

'cclerated he r death? A. That is just what I stateq, herf

condition was sucii that she migh+t have died from natural

CAUSECS.

By M?. Weeks. Q. In a person of ner enemic conditinjwould such
i

bruises as you found Ber upoh her body and legs have been

dlikely to have been caused by slight blows?

A. No, I do not think by slight blows._

any of them of such a character that they might have

Were

been caused by a kick? "A. Yes, any of them might have

'caused by a




Were those bruises thaﬁkyéu"have spoken of as being uron the:

g legévqf,the deceased on the inside or the outside?

A« “On the outer side..
Weré they on both legs or upon one of the legs on one;éide,’

“do you wrecollect? A. On both éides, both legs

and arms, a2ll over the body in faect you might say-.

Could all those bruises that you have deécribed; that you-
have scen have been inflicted by a single fa211%?

A. No sir, I do not think so.

A. By a series of external injuries.
Ry thé courﬁ.Q. Those bruises could no+ in your opinion h:ve been
caused by a single fal1? A. Not by a single fall, for

the reason that they were on both limbs and some of ithem were:

oldex than_others appérently.»

‘

MARGARET FEENEY recalled by Counsel.
1jWhere do you.reside?. A. No. 5 Batavia Streect.
Are you in a flaté A- No sir,
Ilow many rooms do you occupy? Two, a room and

bed~room.

;EWhat‘do you work at? _ Ae. In a wholesale srocexry
and pirovision place, Beardsley's, 179 West Street.

;;Who lives with you in the house? . A- Botﬁ I and my
brothexr.

i Do you know Lir.Mooney? A. No sixr.

Don't you live with a ma ? A Your‘Honor, I am not

going to answer - - thé‘idea, no sirw----- the idead




ne Couft;'Q.iYou’work e#ery day for-a living? A. Yes sir,.
» b . : S

I am over eight years in Beardsley's.

A. My brother is going on

How old is your brothexy-

fifteen:or sixteen, he works at anything‘he can do.

You and he keep- hoilse togecthers A. Yes.sir, since my

mother died, géing on two years,

The Case Tfor the Defence,

JOHN T. WHITTEL, sworn and examined.
By Céhnsel. WVhere do you reside? A. 82 Rutgers Strect.

What i your businéss? A. M sh business, laborer

down the Tish market going on eleven years.

In whose employl A. In the employ of F.G.Keeney & Co.

1468 Beekmsan Street.

A. Pority—two yYears.

You are a brother of the defendant George Whittel?
A. Yes sir, a younger brother,

How mach older are you than your-brother? A Twel#e

years older than George.

Do you remember where they lived in November last?

A. No. 22 Cherry Street.

Dia yoa 'see them ofiten while they lived tie re?

iy

A. Quite of'ten, two or three times a week.

e e e

In Passing from your Place of work to your home aid you pass |
their residences A. Mostly every evening. !
Do you remember Sunday, the 23rd of November last?

A. I dAo not know the'date, the Sunday before she died

he was in my house, I saw him and his little boy up to five

;
|
N
a

= ——rce .

o'clock or a little after, they left my house then.




‘When did you see him and his wife again®?
A. The nexi evening, Monday evening about five o'clock

at their house 22 Cherry Sﬁreet,‘the deceased's sister was

I' there also.
#Did you mnotice any bruises upon her face?

was & little blseck and her eye was cub.

ijd you ask her how it hap ened? A. I asked her how

i she gof it and she said she fell off a stoop.

fHow 1oﬁg didyou sta.,/ theree A. About hall an houx,

Where was she? A She was sitting near the stove on
a chair.
Was she sititing there when you left? A. No, she was

on the bed when I left.

She went tonbed while yYyou were there? A. Yes sir

it
'ﬁThat is, she lay down on this mattress behind the door?

A. Lay down on the mattsess behind thg dooxre.

Ae The Tﬁesday evening

When d4did you next see here

f; following, the next day.

i Where was she thene 4. She was lying on the bed.

'

ﬁDid you have any convefsation with her that day?

A. I onliy asked_her how she felt.
A;What was her apparent condition that day?

A.'She said she Tel+t well.
gWhat was tne arpearance of her face, was it black, how did
:she appeaf? A. In about tlie same condition she-was
the day before, her face was black and.jhe ere cut, I think

it was on the right side, I am noit sure.

Was her eye out on heyr 'cheek A. I did not see it out

/

the cheek, her eye was pPretity well swelled.

it covered with anything; with a cloth?

j
{
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no . eloth or anything.

" When 4id you next see hers : . A< On Wednésday.

“What was her éénditioh'then? A. She did not seem as

good as she was the day before.

»Didjbu see her afiter that? . A. T saw her the day

L

that she was taken away in an ambulance in the evening about

-

half past ten o'eclock.

i
H
|
!
i

Did you remain until the ambulance came? A. Yes sir,

ybu saw the woman?®? A. Insaw thewoman taken out.
ii How long before tlie ambulance came did you PTirst sce her_that§
'3day? fre About five o'cloek in the evening I went in theg

rlacey I sagw her four times, I was out and in, I went ouB for!

N

the ambulance.
Did you see her after that alives A. MNo sir.
Did you see her after she was dead; A. I did, +the next

-

morning at the Chambers Street Hospital about nine o'eclock.
During fhis time did you see the defendaﬁi~your brothere
AL My brother was in the hospital arfter she died, that:
was about nine o'clock inA the morning.
Was he admitted to see hexr: A No4'thére was a nurse
lady down there; I saw thé mirse lady down there; I asked
the doctor can I go down and see how Catherine Whittel is?
fle said, all right; I did not know thai she was dead; so
f-when 1 got down the nurse said she was dead half an hour, I
saw my brother that morning. -
Court. Q. Did your brother ask the doctor to sec here
A. No, he daia not when I told him she was dead.
Did the Doctor Prevent him A. The Doctor dia Aot pPre-—

vent him because he did not ask.

You were there then nearly every day that week before she




’_A.'xvﬁfy.aayfthat week‘befbre‘she'diedQ

'wYOQEViéited'them‘freQthtlyé A. About. three or Ffour
1ﬁiiﬁés_a week mostly.

A. Ever since they

IOt how long a period of time>

g0t married, for Ffive or six yearse.

Was she in’the habit of drinking intoxicating liquorse

A. Yes sir

State to what extents A. She bought it in a bottle

and. drank it by the bottle.

a i s o,

State whéther you have seen her-under the influence of lig-

uor? A. I could not say she was fully under the in-

fluence of it but she was S0 neayr it that there was no fun in.

it.

What do yowu mean by that, that she was s0 drunk that there

 wés no fun in ite . - A. That was it, whem she g0t
enbugh she sﬂopped, could not get no more;

During.the time she was iil;you séw the q;fendant there, 4aid
you? " A. Yes sir, »

What was he doing.around about there, Al Ic came home

from his work and he would get his supper or else Mrs. Daley

would get his supper.

- i

State whether he attended her and. nursed his wife?

.A. He went and got medicine for her.

i
i
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o
i
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You saw him do that from time o time as yYyou were tle re

through thg weekeo A. Yes sir,

Did you ever know of their having any quarrels or'any fights#

A. They never quarreled before me or while 1 was in the:
. i . i

house.

ever see him use any violence towards hex?

No sir,




CROSS EXAMINED by M. Weeks

Were youin the habit of visiging Mrs. Whittel when he s hag—~

A. Some evenings as I am going

‘band was no+t theres

home and sometimes he would noi be home from his work..

thing for herntio dr ink

Were you in the Habit oFf buying some

Sometimes,

and drinking “there? : A.

These times when you Tound that she knew enough to stop when

:

husband was there with her, is not that S0

SRy

she had ehough hexr

A. Sometimes.

¢ You made a mistzke this morning in Say -ing that you were

there on the Monday, +the Tuesday znd the Wednesday before

she diedy? A. No siry,

;Why did not you so testify at the goroner'’s inquest?
{ .

f -A. They did not ask me those questions. .
i

aateed,

-Db'you remember beingntHis question at the Coronerfs in-

!
!
/
i
;!

quest: Y"Q.Who called you to thenhouse? A Ndbody called -

Y me to the house, I went in accidentally, I had not been in

the house in a week. " . A. I do not remember say ing

anything like thate.
Is it true or not that you didvso testify'ﬁhereé
A. I testifieda that I had not been in there a weelk be -

fore that Monday because 1 was laia up with a broken leg ati

the 4 me.
Now the guestion Just before that at the Coronexr's inquest
was this. Qé.You Were not present when siie had fallens
A.No'sir. Q-And that was on the da when she was carried
to the hospitai? A.Yes sir. Q. Did you speak to he r? A.No
sir, she coula not understand me, & e knew my name . Qs Who
called you to the ﬁouse? A. Nobody called me to the housé,.
I went in'accidentélly, I had not been in the housé ip a4

‘




”:Qeek‘ﬁeforé'fhéf Mdnday, tha£ ié what I éaid, that is whaﬁ'

. I meant to testif&;‘lthé house-keeper will tell you ﬁhat I

1”wént in that Mondéy and was in every day. '

foﬁ also tés%ified at the C§roner's inquest, did you not, that
&ou went in the house the night that you went for the doctor

and that was the first night.you heard anything about her

.

Qs

‘A. I did not testify that that was the

being sick?

Lot

first time I heard of her being sick or anything of thne sord

she was sick a ycar before that, I knew her to be sick.

n when they lived at 72 Rosevelt Si.9

Rt 4..";_‘\_ 7

A. Twice, I could not say whether it was Saturday even-—

ing, I went there on Sunday.

A. They never had any marrel in my company at no +time

whénAI have been the re.

A. Having squab~ |

loud words? . A Yes siy, I am not sure whether

in Rosevelt Street or not.

remember ever to have seen irs. Whittel black and blue

{prior to this-time: A. No sir, I do not know
whether they had a quarrel or not, I did not ask her.

§§You vere not intevrested in fighting? A. No,Aif they

had'any words ‘I would go out of the house, I did not want to

v

ji

§fintcrfere between man and wife at all, it was none of my
I

business.
i Then when they commcnced +to quarrel you used to go out?
A. Yes sir, that is i%.
Why didyou testify a few minutes ago that you nevér knew E

to have any quarrels ; . A. I never seen them,Strike,




fbfhéf; they had WGrdé bu£fI-might have words too with my
jwifeg
‘@Héy éoﬁ prétty hot, pretty loud?h A. Sometimes mine

‘was preétty loud too.

Where was Mrs, Dale&.this night thatyou claim that you have
testified Mrs. Whittel told you how she g0t these bruises on
her face? A. I belicve she was in the room, right

near me.

If any such thing was heard she would Probably have he ard

A. Yes, probably would have heard it.

Why did not you testify to ¢t at the coroner's Inquest?

o

A. I testified I heard her say that she fell down t he

vstocp}'I“am“saré that she said she fell.

;s it not truc that the only person you testified at the
Coyroner's ihquegt told you.that she had fallen was her hus—
5and? B A. No sir, I did not testify to notuing of the

sort. e -
: &

?
|
i
|
f

Mr. Weceks read the testimony of the witness given at

fthe Coroner’s inquest.

Dia you.testify to anything else at the coboner's inquest_
Eexcept what I have read io you now? A. I testifiead
.?differently from what that seems tie re.
jfThen if 1 ecall thé stenographer and h; states thét this is
ﬁa correct transcript of what you testified to at the Coro-—
ner's inquest you will say +that the stenographef.does not

report your testimony correctly, is that ité

A. I cannot understand how he can write that, that is

about the size of it, I did not say it, he mus+t have misun—
derstood what I said there in one or two guestions.
When you wenﬁ with your brother £0gthe Chambe: Street Hospit;L'

did he sy anything to anybody there?

e
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'ibﬁféfefpéd fo£wafa'aﬁd asked to see Mré. WhitteI; did:yog?
AL T aid. |
;Whefe'did youxr brother remain?.' : A. He sat on the beﬁch
ih ernt of the desk and never said a wvad, I went dowh . |
stéirs and séen her. : .
You were informed’by the narse that she was dead?
A. That she was dead halfl an hdur.
And then you came up and told your brother and you and
brother just walked out? A. That is all.
Did he say anything to anybody at the hospital?
A. No,'he went straight to the court House.
The night fhat'she was taken away in an anbulance was he
ﬁhere:when.the anbulance surgebn came? .A. Ho sir.
Where was heeg A. I do not kﬁow.
He sent you out for an ambulancé?. A. Yes sir.
And he was there when you went for the ambulance?
A. He was in the house. . _ J;

When you came back having gone to the police station to get

ithe -ambulance, he was gp ne? A. He was gone.

When did you meet him again? A. The next day or
the Court-

House.

The# from the ;ourt Housé.you went over to the Hospital
with him? A. That‘is where I went.

Yo did ﬁd#iseevhim-at all that night after she went to. the
hospital? A. Not after she went to the Hospital.

Did you see him after that day? A. No sir, I did not

see him until I saw him at the goroner's inquest.




By;Cp%ﬁséi;‘Q; Where do you reisde, Mr. Wilson¢?

ERASTﬁS C..WiLSON sworn and ekéminedf

- A. No. 235

Wes‘t 75%h St ree t.

;;ﬁﬁaﬁfis youf,bﬁsiness? A. Cerk in the County Clerk's

foffi¢e ébout tﬁelvé years and 1 am there now. |
You know £he defendant Becorge Whi tel _ A. T knéw George

the boot-black in.thévcbunﬁy Clerk's corridor, the defendant

is the boy.
How 1ohg has he ha& a stand there? A. About five or
six years.ﬁaybe-
Have you seen him from day to day during ihat time?
A Yes sir, he blacked my boots almost every day.
What was his general character for peace and quietness®?
A .;ge_attendéd to his business as far as I know aé a
boot—bléck.
- 4;:'a’.-t".xrasf---l_a-i-s-general, character, do you _kndw anythj_.ng about
A. No sir.
t he was Tfaithfully at work duking tﬁis tnﬁe everybday?

A. Yes siwv,

MICHEAL WHELAN sworn and examined.
Where do you residé; A. No. 308 West 135th Stirect.
How long have you been in theACounty Clerk's office9
A. Ab-—out sixteen years |
Do you know ﬁhe defendant? . A. I know him as George,
I dida not know his last name.

How long have you known him? . A. About five or six

Years i.guess,
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ﬂLWﬁqti&aéfhiérﬁuéiﬁéss;fhgre§ 
:itibﬁ1§ 6f'theiCourt House.

xi{fDSTyca‘kndw this man's general reputation for peace and_hui—
:étnéss?' A.  So far as-I seen him around the Gourt

House that is all,

Q- So far as yoa know what is his sceneral reputation for peace

A. I considered that he was a quiet

and quilietness®

and inoffensive sorit of a Prerson.
! | |
By Mn: Weeks. Q. You never saw him anywhere except around the

Court House®? A. I saw him out in the street.

.By the Court-‘Q; You ﬁevéf saw him at his home, you do not know
his wife, you never wvisited there? . A. No sir.

s+ Weeks. Q. You never knew that ﬁe had been convictednior
gbeing drunk aﬁd disorderly and served three months?

! Al Iuhéérd that;

!You heard that énd yet you consider that his reputation for

R

ﬁsdbriety and . good behavior is good? - A. So Ffar as I

ii have seen.

Couxrt, Q. Did he black your boots around the Court Houseo

t

<

o .
S SO
e

A. Yes sir,

You never saw him at his home? never knew anything about his

?

acquaintances or how he conductied himself when ' was home?

A. No sir, T do not.

GEORGE WHITTEL, sworn and examined.

i
{
i
{
{

By Cdpnsel, Q. You are the defendant? A. I am.

Q.!lWhat was your wife's names A. Catherine Whittel.

Q- |l Where did you live during her 1lifetime? A. No.22 Cherry

Street.

Q. || When were you marrieds . A< The 2na of August, 1885 +

B
2 e Lrph
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A. Bootblack in the ‘ves--

2
:1
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 How old are you? Y AC Thirty.

R

 H§w1old‘wéshéhe?“: A. She was twehty—four at the time
gf:hér deéth.

!,ﬁave you lived in this city all the timev CA. Yes sir,
:Tﬁid she. and you keep house Z ter you were married uﬁ to the
time-of’her dezth? i A. Not =zall thé timé, spmetimes
{we would lIive with.Mrs.VDaiey»and at,times Mrs; Daley would
bé with us.

But you and she lived togethey? during all that time to the

Sjiﬁéiof her death? A. O yes.

| Do you remember Sunday, the 23rd of November lasty

i A. I do-

WVhat did you db on that day<% A. In the morning T
weﬁ# out several times and bought some articies in the fancy

goods store and made two or tree trips.

On Sunday? A. Yes sir,

Who was with youll . A. My little boy, he will be five
i

i years old next month.
i

Is he the only c¢hild you have? i A. Yes sir.

iWhat dAid you & during the day? A. I took a walk

t
i
i
!
i
v
1
1
i
H

i around for a while, me and my child, then aftcer we got

I through we went back to the house again and in the afternoon

'I went out again to my brother's house.

)
i

gHow long adid you stay at your brother's house? A. O, I

3

stayed there three or foﬁr hours.
What time did you leave therc in the evening? A. It musst

be around eight o'clock or a 1ijtle after and then I went

right home.
How did you find matters when you reached home?

‘A I found my wife 1lying in a bed as if she was asléep..




:;ﬁﬁat:did5&9u do? l: A I weﬁt'to'bedg
f_And:yoﬁ slept all night? ~ . = A. Yes sir, .
.Whét aia ‘you dolﬂhé?nek@ morning? © A. I got up and
Qénﬁ d§Wn town and went to the ﬁéxt bﬁilding'ﬁére‘inAthii;
‘Coﬁfleouse where"£ élWays did.

Did you wait for breakfast? . A. No sir, I never did,

You always go down +o the court licuse before breakfast?

A. Yes sivr, I generallyget down town about seven or

i ha¥ff past seven.

{Go on and state what you did that daye A. I stayed

é;thére all day to sce what I could make uniil about halrf

f:four and between half past Ffour and five o'clock I went
State what you Tfound +there if anything? A. Then
found my wife was still in bed and I happened to notice

face and I asked her how éhe got it anad She told me.

E Go on and describe the condition 6f_her face?
- A. Her face was black and had a cut in the eye.
A. I did not know what to do, I
Mrs. Daley céme there the same nighﬁ, I was sur-
.then I went out to the store and‘bought some pro-
.for my supper. ‘
get your own suppere A. Yes siy; I had sev-
3;eraljbooks in the.house, I tried to read and I could not
> I stayed in the house,un+til I went to bed.
Did you go to bed with your wife that nightye - o A. Yes
éir, I think it was about hine o'clock as soon as I got
tired reading.

What did you do the next mominge A. I went awy and

my wife sent out for her sister.

You went for her .sister first, did you .
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}jﬁhat dia you db»éhé'néxtyday? A. I Wentvright down
iﬁ#n and stayed there until noon time.and came home to see
fhé;.éhe was; she did not seem té be so bad , shé was sitﬁing
upain £he bed; then I igft a few pénnies I had made with he
fﬁﬁd Wéﬁt down town again, about forty or fifty cents, I went
back again to~ﬁork and came hoﬁe betWéen hal £ past'fpﬁr and
five é‘cloék she was sitting'up.on a chair then and»Mré.

Daley was there, she was trying to get some supper ready, I

believe, for both of us.

A. She

How long did hirs. Daley s&ay>there that night?’

}

" ywrent home altecr I got home and came back after getting her

::husbahd's supper ready.
H
fiHow long did your wife sit up that night? A. I believe

she laid down‘before Mes. Daley went home the first time.

What appeared to be her condition then? A. I do noi

{know, it seemed to0 be weakness, she would

not eat, I triecd

: 0 have her eat and she could no# eat.

What caused the loss of hor appctite, do you know?
A. I could not say that.

Hirs. Daley went home about nine o'eclock that night?

i A. About half past eight or nine o'cloek.
iAnd the next morning what did yow do? A. I waited in
ﬁthe house until Mrs. Daley came down, she came down the e xt

i
i
:

imorning aboid half past seven.

What was the condition of your wife the next morninge
' A. She seemed to be fééling better.

Vhat did you do? A. As soén as Mrs. Dalgy came I

went down town to0 my business, I went home at noon time and

dropped sone money there and. came back. again, I done it every

day.




.;Whaf ﬁimé did you go hoﬁe that'night? L . A. Half ﬁas%

four Just ‘as soon as I could get through at the (ounty

Clerk'vaffice-
.Who_was_there when'you g0t homé, do you vecollect wrnether
'a£; iﬁaividual Was'thefeo : A. Mrs. Daley, she was
trylng to do sometulng foxr my Wlfe washing her face or some-

thlng 11ke that; she would on¥y stay_betwéen eight and nine

‘o clock in the night; I slept with my wife every night.

How was she the next morning? v A. The next mornlng
ishe felt Just about the same; I stayed in’ the house the
gwhole day, it was Thanksgiving; I tried to read and looked

out of the wlndow and saw some childroen playlng in ‘the yard.
; What was the condlulon ol your Wlfe, was shne able to sit up
.gor not” ’ A. She was sitiing up mosi of the aay.
Whén‘was she taken worse? . . ' A. The worst T seeén

iwas the morning that she was taken to the hospital ;in the

s
S
®
oy
3

Do you recollecect the day of the week thaiAwaS?
A. That was Thursday morning; Mrs. Daley was kind of

late coming dovn to the house, I went down idwn and expected

Mrs. Daley to be there in a minute.’ She seemed 0 be rea-—

psonable in the morning and when I came home she was raving
)
'11ke at half past four or five o'elock the regular time;

i,

ﬁshe did not seem to understand anything, I tried to speak
with her and she was trying to answer. Mrs.s IFeeney came
"lin and she went up and told Mrs. Daley and she came down;

I went and gried to get a priest to come to the house and

went for the doctor; the doctor could not come 1111 about
half past nlne o clock so when he came he told us the best

thlng to do was to.send her to a_hospltal, she unld_bef

i
i
b
i
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h
i
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“llbetter taken care of; she was taken to the Chamber Street

“|/lHospital.

~Did youisée‘her aftér she went to thé“hbspital?

A. No sir, I went there,.my brothgr went down firs{
aﬁdiseen that~she was dead and I did not care abéut seeing
her; ’ ”
‘What did youndo then? ..A; I came to ihe Court House’

building and tried to get a subseription raised to bury her;

I believe there i some hundred odd dollars.

Did- you go .to her funcral? A. No sir, I aid not.

ﬁ Why didn't you go to the funeral? A. Saturday morning

iithe morning after she died, I happencd to go down town on my

\ -
Hregular business and the first thing as soon as I went there

I sawia man and he

H
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Nidgesre man asked nie if I read the paper. I told himano; he
.éhbwedjmé,the'paper, I was surprised seeing in the baper
Ha column about =z tragedy; so I made up my mind if theywere

;gping fo arrest me I would not be arrested untilafter the
Efuneral,.while she was overbground; so I went and staid away
'until Honday morning following the funeral and then I went
up to the Coroner's office.

i The paper charged youw with killing her? A. Yes sir,

ggfracturing her skull like thate. |

5 As soon as you learned that the Coroner was holding an in-—

;;quest you went to his office and gave yourself up?

i A. Yeg sir, .

Where have you been since then? Ae I have been down

in the Tombs ; the}Coroner's inquest was the IOth of Decem~

ber..

I want to ask you whether at any +time for months prior to

iyoui' wife's death you inflicted any.violence upon her perso n ﬁV

i}




in any way® A No sir; I gave her a slap once’

when I came in'tﬁé'hpuse and found her intoxicated and a can &

of beer on the table; I gave her a slap in the face trying

- to bring shame to her; that was about three years‘ago:
1 ' .Q. ;Since that time have yoa laid hands upon her in a v1olent .

manner or have you ever kicked her? A No sir. : oo
g

Then this black eyé and face was not caused by any v1olcnce

b

§

{

Lof yours towards her nor were the marks upon her body caused
i h

j

{

| by any violence of yours toward here

|
2

~She had been lylnb there for some time, had she note

A. Yes sir,

What had been her ¢ondition if you know¢ A. That I

fcould not explain only she was always afraid almos+ to go +to

“thevstore for fear she would drop in the streecs.

‘She was afraid of instant_death? A. Yes sir,

Had she had a physician for some time prior to this +ime

'when she was taken ille A. Only last July she

consulted a dispensary doctor in Center Stfeet-fof a2 month
}or twe months.
Do you know for what disease shé waé treated then?

A. No sir,I could not SAaY. .

It has been drawn out herce that you were arrested on one

‘occasion and sent up to the Island for three months, wiill

y01 explain that, what was there about thate j

: L '
il A. Yes sir, the day before my child was a year old I
§ - .

jeommenced celebrating his first year too soon and I got three
émonths on the Island and put in seven wecks of’ that - only.

g How 4dia you happen to come out at the expiration of sgvén
gweeks? . A. I believe it was through Senator O Hearn, hg_f
] . :

was then celerk of the Essex Market Court.
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or less ligquor? . . A. She was pretty fond of it I know

“Ypu‘weht sent to the Island for being drm nk? A YeS,PI
did not want to gp‘with the policeman., I resisted the police~
man.

.. State Whether your wife was in the habit of drinking more

for the last week or so before she died, she was alﬁays
hailooing in the night for a sup, that was after she was tak-

en i1l she was crying fTor whiskey ; she drank so muchh that

I would not want +to give her all my,money, I had to look dutl

for the rent or it would not have been paid.

During your wife's last illness did she state to ilargaret

. Feeney in your npresence thas you had kicked her?

0

‘Did you sa, this at the Coroner's ingquest in answer to a

~Wére:drunk'and while you were drunk you beat her and kicked

A. No sir, not as I heard.
Did you hear your wife during her last illness state to any-§
one that you had struck or kicked her? ' A. No sir, I

did not.

CROSS IEXAMINED by Mr- Weeks,
Dia she state that to you¢? A. HNo sir, she aid not
Did not you téstify at the Coroner's inquest that she didé

A. No sir.

"Do you remembexr +this part of your testimony at the Coroner's

inques+t: "QeDid your wife say to you how she camec to +lese
injuries? A.Yes sir, she said I done it. Q-You diad? A.Yes;

she said I done it.*® A. No sir, I did not sayf

)
ta g
.y
ok -

», I do not rcmember such a thing being asked. |
question, the gquestion beihg, "Q. Is it not possible that you

her and punched her, is no: that Possible? A.T never;ﬁsed[ _

my foot on the womah, I mighﬁ,haye stuﬁck."
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‘my foot on a woman, I did not mention anything about strike.
. % i

'{twice in the year, that is, not to0 know myself.

You tore the buttons of'l his coat, didn't you?

A. The question given to me was, was it possible for a

Person intoxicated to’do such and I said, bossibly.

‘Was _that . your answer, "I never used my foot on a woman, I

might have sturck"? . A..No sir, I said I never used
" NA 5 .
 When were you married, A. I wap married the 2nd of
August, 1885.
Prior to that time how long had you known your wifee

A. Two months_

During that time had you ever known her 1o be intoxicated be!

fore you were married to her? A- No sir, I know her
to take occasionally a glass of becr or so.
When did you first know her to be initmmicated?
‘A. About a month afterwards..
wa'many:times had'you been intoxicated before you Tound out

that she was? . A.. I guess occasionally once or

Were you with your wife the Tirst time that sz became in-—

toxicated? A. No sir, I was down towne.

This time that you were arrested were not you arrested be—
cause you were assaulting your mother-in-law?

A. No sir, I stopped her from coming up in my'house, I
took hold of her but daid not sitrike her, I kind of pushed her;
ahead of me and I was arrested. |
How many officers did it take to arrest you? A. I do noti
know, the only one I saw was big enouph to throw me across

the streect.

A. So he elaims, I don't remember doing it.

AT
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. You WGfe‘so mich intoxicated you did not know what you daid,
is that it? ' A. Yes sir, that‘is about ite.
. How long did youw .live atmvz'Rosevelt Streét?

A. About six months.

While you were there did you not quarrel with your wi fe

nearly every Saturday night and Sundayzﬂ A. I might .

thave scolded her.

ﬁapples around the Court room? A. Yes sir,

¥
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with her two or three

. Did not you have such serious qguarrels

{
i
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'away up on one ofithe apper
out
ﬁhe trougble was? A--Their doors are all open,
can hear everything.
tenants came upstairs to see what the trouble was?
A. No sir, I am posifive I did not see anybody.
know Mar&, ihenapple woman, don't you, that sells
I do.
She lived in the same house with YOu?_ A. Yes sir,

Don't you know she has been called upstairs on account of

‘lithe noise that you ana your wife made, quarreling up theresg

A. No sir, I do not, that is the first I heard of i4.

Is it not true that you used +o gct under the influence of

fliquor nearly every Saturday night? A. Mo, I would

étake cccagionally a glass of becr bur not +to forpset myself.

That generally occurred Saturday night or Sunday, didn't it,

when you did not have to come down +to shine shoess

A. No sir, it did not, it would not make any difference

fSunday or any otier night. ) .

Do you remember'what happened on Sunday, the 23%rd of Novem—
beros A. Yes sir, the biggest part of +the daye.

You had been drinking_ that déy_? ) '» © ° A< .No sir, I did




.npt'SayfI>was drinking'thét day, I had taken a glass or two

‘of beer, perhaps three or four.

"You went in and ou;'bf ﬁhe house several times that~day,

aidn't you? . C ‘A. Yes sir, the Ffirst time I went out
Ivtdok<&he'%1itﬂlg boy with me and I bought him a couple of

Wais_ts' and came. back again gna went out for something for my

fwife, I bought 2 couple of aprons and a pair of stoekings,

this wasnon Sunday._

Did you go out Tor coal? . A. No sir, not on that day.

!
i
!
!

1Wgs"it not the day that your wife got these bruises when you

No sir, it was a week or

you went for 2 Daley +to

Ao Yes, I do; that was

I believe it was = very cold

Was it not the day after she got these injuries?

LA. No sir, I aiga not see ig. Daley the da& after she got

these injurics, I am pPositive of +that.

~omereon  wrin e e

P ianigs

What day was it that your wife received thesc injuriese

e

A It mast have been Sunday or Monday, I did not know it

antil konday night, I did not notice her.

i
)
!
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Were you not home Sunday nightse A. Why, certainly

Dia yoﬁ=sleep-with—her.in the same bede A. Yes sir,

P

Did not you +talk with herv A. No sir, because she

f
lwas asleepe.

R

You did not see anything the matter with her?

A. No sir, T did not notice anything out of the way.

the "
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Was not that the night you came home and tried td’read




papers and ¢ould noét read? A. No sir.

You did .not try to read that night wher you came home at all?

e

“A. No sir.

I understand you 1o say that you did not know anything about

your wife having these bruises on her face until ionday night

A. Monday nighf whén I came home.

'Although you slept there Sunday night? : A. Yes sir,

A?You did not look at your wife before you went out in the

_?mofning, dida youv A. No sir, she was asleep'or at
lecast she was in that poéition as if she was asleep.

:,You did not say a word to her, just gct up and went off'

the morning? A. Yes sir, I always 4did it,

{ That morning, never mind about what you alwa,s do, that morn- |

ing you got up and never said a ward to her. ar;d Wept out?
A. Yes sir,

And  then aceordiﬁg to your story, when you came home that
TEMonday nighit you found that your wife was terribly bruised
:and her‘eye-was terribly cut? Ae Yes six,
i;Ana then thé next day Mrs. Daley came and she used to

there day after day and take care of nher and you used

out to your business every morning? A. Yes sir.
| A. Yes, and_in the middle
| of the day too.
gDid vyou +take any stpps toward getting a physician to look
after your wife; ‘  ‘A. No sir, my yife aiad not want any,
Did you know that tﬁe Pooice were notified on the 26th, that
is on Wednesday and that a police officer came tie re?

A. Yes sir, I heardvof ite. .

Anad yét you took.no>steps to have your wife's wounds taken

care of? ' : A.She would not allow it.

BUTOEIFTPREE )05 2
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Q. Dia You do anything toward getting a physician?

A. No sir,

;Qf' You di&pot g0 to the funeral? e NO sir, .

“Qeli"During .211 this week your wife was conscious was sheo
) & £ s 7

A. Yes'sir.

Q+}i"" And was congcious up to the day she dieda, I understand?

A.. Yes sixr

On the 4th of December she was taken awvay invan ambulance
and you knew your brother had gone for the ambulance, didn't
| you ! A. Yes sir.

And while your brother was gone for the ambulance you left

‘your wife there andwent owut ? A. The house was fall

gof people, yes sir, I went out with my brother,

“Q.g Did‘you.eonm back with him A- No sir,

Qi% You knew that the'ambulance was coming right away,‘didn’t
g'you? " A. Yes sir. | i

Qe And yet you did not come back to help té take your.wifejoui

A. I did not like that kind of a jobs I wounld not

have taken her out of +the housec at all only for the doctor
ladvising it.

Q-é And then the next day you went over to the Chambef Street

| Hospital with your brother, did you? A. Yes sir.

What name did you give at the Chamber Street Hospital?

A. I did not give no name.

Qe

Just think a moment, what name did you give when you wert

remembe¥ being asked my name.

Q.!li What name did.you_give, I did not ask whether you were asked

I do not.remember‘giving my naﬁeq

there with &our brothex to the hospital? A. I do not

S

2R

IR

arything? 4. That I could not say, if I gave it at all, |
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TYou;did,not give Your own name? A. I do not re-~

‘member giving any name.
Do you know anybddy by . the name of Richard Kelly®

A. I have got an uncle that name.

"Was not that the name you ga%e?,. o A.”I:do not remember

giving a name at-a11,
You aid not go down to see your wife at all and did not even

ask rermission to o down A. No sir, the docitor

let one down and then when he came up he told me my wife was

‘with your broither To get the ambulance

dead and I went out.

And the only reason theat you did not attend your wife's>fu—
neral and did not look at her from the time you went out

to take her where she

could get some mealcal attendance, from that time to this you

have not looked at you" wife or her body becauue you d1d not

care to see her dead? . A. No, it was not that

'altogether.

g Why did you object to beiné afrestea before the funeral,
‘you have not done any thing? A. I aia not want to
have it said that I was in a cell while she was being buriead.

But you had not done any thing A. T would be held.

What objection diq you have to try to go to her funeraly

A. The papers had as good as told me
Did you feel at all suilty? A. No sir, I d4dia not;

it I felt guilty I would not 80 and give myself to the Cor-

oner.

i

 To'whom did you talk ébout.fhis case before you went and
save yourself to the.Coroner? A. Nobody thet I know
of except my brother ———- I spoﬁe to lots of ﬁhem I guess.
Who adv1sed you to go the Coroner and give yourself up?

A. Nobody, I went to the Statlon House first; vtheyb@id'

;
i
!
|
i
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not give me a chénce'tOysay'who I was or anything else, .they

‘told me to go over to the Tombs; - instead of going t6 the
Tombs I went up io the Coronér's office.

%here did you keep yourself all this time?

in é 1odging>h6use in the Bowery.

Did you look after your little boy at a1l?

for a couple of days.

bid you do anything toward seeing what became of him?

A. I knew he vas with my brother at the time because he

told me he had nim and I scen him up there.
Couﬁ%ei; That is all, we rest.
REBUTTING EVIDENCE.
MARY McGREWRY, sworn and cxamined by Mr. Weeks.

Where do you livese A. No. 73 Rosevelt Sireect.

ADo‘you know the defendant, CGeorge WVhittel? A. Yes

sir, just as =a neighbor, tha is all.

j;You wvere a_neighbor at 73 Rosevelt Street how longe
A. Two or threc months.
fjHow near a neighbor was he to you? ‘ Right next
door on thevsame floor. |
'}During that time how frequensrly aidq you hear s, quarrcls
in his room between himself and his wife? A. Pretty
jfmuch on Saturday nights and Sundays, that is the only time I
éver heard any quarrel; I never got in the habit of listen-~
ing to those Pcople at all because they always kep+t their
doors élosed;- we heard shuffling anda carrying on inside, we
rartly guesséd it was quarreling, kind of curSing and swear-—
ing, that is all.
Daring that time dia you evexr see Mrs. Whittel, his wife¢

A. She was on the landing constantly, in and out forA 




Did you ever see her Fface bruised-during that périod?

A. I remember one time she had.a black eye but how she

igot it I could noi tell you.

This was during the same veriod when you heard all these

i quarrels? Ae Yes sir.

CROSS EXAMINED. .
diada you'first tell what you have been telling now, did

tell anybody before you came to Court? Ae. No siwyp,

Sonly this man here this morning.

How did you know Iic knew these facts? A. I cannot

tell you, only what I have heard, I did not +tell it to any=-—

.Pbody, I 4id not know I was to bo brought here.
ﬁ When were you Subpoenaed? A. This morning.

i

i How do you know it was quarreling you heard in the room?
"A. I could hear the woman screaming.

Did you hear them wrestling on the floor, did you hear the

! woman scream? i« Yes sir, I daia.

did not you testify to that on the direct examinat ion?

‘A I was not asked that..

many times did you hear her scream? Ae I cannot

fsay, it is out of my memory, I did not knew I was to be

“brought here.
Q. You are a married woman? A. Yes sir.

i

A. Yes sir,

Q.. Do you ever quarrel with your husband?

B

Cbut my husband never struck me in his l1ife, not since I have

i

. been mariried to him.

J
«©
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ANN GORMAN, sworn and examined by Hr. Weeks.

Do you know the defendant, George Whittel ¢

A. Yes sir, I have seen him often, a good many years

across the street.

Did you ever live in the same house with him?

A. Yes sir, No. 73 Rosevelt Street.

When was that¢ A. This time a year ago he was

Tout of that house, that was the first of last May-

Q-F Prior to that e had been living therc how longe<
A. Two months.
With his wife Catherine Whittel? A Yes.sir,
During the time that he was living there dia you ew r heaxr

ﬂany quarrsel between them? A. Yes sir, I heard

Y P ARUTANA L

s

quaryeiing and fighting in +the middle of the night.
Did you ever sce him intoxicated? .ce Yes siyr.
; Wheé did you generally see him under the iniluence of lig-
%uor? ] A. A1] night he would be "running the can' from
he would come in in the evening.
i When did these qQuarrels generally occur? A. About
ﬂtén o'clock , he would keep on drinking Saturdsy nights gen-~
j".e:r-:a.l:l.;s,r.
What floor did you live on ? A. I lived on the third
floor front room and he lived on the floor right opposite me
;at the head of the stairs.
Q i Was the qQuarrelingfirrom his rooms of such a nature that it
;sometimes called you out of Jour room upstairs?

A. Called everybody, we thought in the house there was

all the tenants complai ned to the landlord and he

>

rut him out.




qﬁsél. Q._Was the quarreling that you heafd and that aroused

| tﬁé people always done by these bgrties?v A. Yes sir.
Never bj anybody else in[the_build}ng, no one else ever
quérreled? ' .A' I do not know about ﬁhat, I never paid

any attention.

k-isvit,pothﬁossiblé when you heard quarrelihg that others may

have been qgarreiing? : ' A. We woulia always 1look at

this room, we would hear it in +this

arr

vas the quarreling of others loud enough for ybu to he ar?

A. There was nobody quarreling

you have any trouble with the defTendant?

The Jury rendered a verdict of guiliy of man-—

slaégh;er in the second degree.

The Defendant was remanded Tfor sentence.
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TESTIMONY.

. D. bern o duly Sworn, says -
s

R Ytsve mads Ko B fe 5 oo SeLiPrieca oy of the body of
N ‘éﬁz//wz( ‘Z_‘_;/\W o . 10 g dead. at .
' %««&/&1 @W and from such o zos

and history of the case, as

per testimony, 9 am of opinion the cawmse of
death 1s %% 2 : o
~

- Ladinrots, Moigae b,

i ’ @l& o 7 -

CORONER.
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Question—What is your name 2

. Answer — /éM‘ZO‘ %&223

Question—How old a
Answ_er—é?

Question—Where were yon born 2

Answer— W %

Question—Where do you live ?
Answer— - 2—

Question—What is your occupation ?

Answer— &%ﬁ‘%@/(
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@onrt of General Sessions of the Weace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YOREK.

TirE PEoPLE OF TRE STATE oF NEW YOREK

againsé

/(5/c0‘7_%«¢/ E—Q Mtoq_

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yorilk, by this indictment, accuse

- /‘%wav %/\c@c/{

of the CriME oF Mamnslaughter in the¢co-- Degree, committed as follows :

The szpid’/%w\_olxv :QM&:L) >

911 the j""“’/‘:’é’ - /%,_,{,,/\—,C\ day (?f ~M ovcaaeNK-o v—, in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hundred and ninety, - at the City of New York,' in the County of New

York, aforesaid, in and upon one G_quww A VS § . — then and

there being, wilfully and feloniously'did make an assault, and — I A the said

< <. ) TS K - Arce R, with a—ee;-taa—n-/(ﬁa*\-/qs ARne %MJ%/QML-.
the said M D S oAakeX, then-and-therehad-andheld-in Jrand
in and uapon tﬁe M%J/%AA_X of _—Nace_- the said CorNra~vria mw,

" then and t};qre_yi}ﬁu_liy and feloniou_sly did strike, —Sec o A= , R a , and wound,

giving unto__S-e~_~ the s2id Gtfcrcric T8 rtef, then and there, msh-the_/ez e acaos-

Ya,f‘oresa,id, in and upon the “Kead a—d /Q.‘w\.‘a of — P~ —— the said

CoonSnamie LR IAL | . Aars- 086 mortal wounde oo M}Of which said




m’orta,l woullga— 4“4,}2%.;-»7, the said G_.WVQ\,M T R e , —

at the City and County aforesaid, from the day first aforesaid, in the year aforesaid, until the
_t A day of ck(:,c_,m.)t.__c/f-" in the same year aforesaid,
did languish, and Ianguishing did live, and on which said —-————%r_,o,.,«\/k/v\ —_— day of
in the year dforesaid, .o—N~<-  the said Cattale C«)w}

at the City and County. aforesaid, of the said mortal wound® ocovcd. _Kn.comid> , did die.

And so the Grand Jury atoresaid dosay: That the said
TS Srra . Raam.  —
the sald 4 S~ ol T S e in the manner and form, and by

the means aforesaid, wilfully and feloniously did kill and slay, against the form of the Statute
in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York
and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,
JOHEN—R=—"FEIIXFWS,

District Atiorney.
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S j;‘__'oj'No :

RSy / b e : : - TN . /S’treet aged é é years,
. occupation Z CLe A — ' . bein duly sworn .
%‘, ‘-~ -» _, dz
o dqooses and s %S, ‘that the premises, No 13_3 Z W %_ °Z 4/ Street,
: zn the O’aty and C’ozmty aforesaza’ ‘the sazd 6ezng (2 M M M M
mzd wkze]z was occ'up&ed by depo*zent as a ) A} @’C—&\w ;_
' TR SN S—hTmaTetng, by e

 were BURGLARLOU&L X entered by means offm czl)lq :
bsstint A % ..

Lo

zecZ away, vz’

day of m% 18§/ in ﬂze‘%_ time, and the
S S 7 e—"

_ on the
foZZowzﬂg or op4 Y eronzousZ o taken tolen, and car

' tlze?;opezt./ of’ _
. and deponent fius z’]ee; sazq, /s, thag e i’zas great cause to Z)eZeeve,

B URG—LA_RY was commztted aml the afm e.sazcl p; ‘operts J mkcn stchn @

' fm t7&e¢easons faZZowzw ‘o wit

.. .47

and does chmve, ﬂz,at at_the: ajm ‘esaid

ncZ carried away by




CITY AND COUNTY ss
OF NEW YORK, :

%@V%‘a ,0 % < ZJM
ﬁww M ”? :/%’-".C‘ S-‘é-reet, bemg duly Z’)rn deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of %&M

and that the facts. stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowledge.

day of.

187/‘
a«l.&—n\ P

LPolice Justice.

’ p.
Sworn to be %7’8 me, this / aj } ,/% Py (//Q ﬁg‘: %Wéj




‘Scc. 198—200. < ' L ) - "{ District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

Y s ' .
/}M/M % M\_M being - duly examined before the under-

sw‘ned accor g to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is hao right to
malke a stapement in relation to the charge arra,mst h pe~. ; that the statement is designed to
enable hp—-— if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against ll/iw
that he Tis ‘Lt liberty to waive making a statement, and that h «e waiver cannot be used

against 1 s~ - on the trial.

b Question. What is your name2?
‘ . N
—__A.nszaea:._.y_ Lot ‘o _ZZM LN A~

Question. ”How old_are you ?

R e Z %A

Oue.géz’o'n. Where were you_born ?

Answer. % M A&W

Question. Where do you live, and how long h'Lve you resided there ?

sreer. D) il 43 Z Jhaag . I ;M

Question. _What is your business or profession ?

Answer. W Lan .——%‘l\

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearlnn‘ in the
‘testimony against _you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ’2

L il pptenili . D o A ZES
2Ll Conn ok~ S SH oo e

/dé«%_,_%m

SH[p Wb 940 f5q uym,
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Offernce ...

1

It appearing 1o e by the within depositions and statenvenis ihat the crivie thercirn menticned has Deern

007)2/7nitted;. and that there is sufficient cawse to belicve the withirn nanv

Zueilty thereof, I order that e be Tveld to answer the same and he

be admitted to bail ir the sune of

ieHundred Dollars . and be comimitted to the Warden and Keeper of

the City P;’-i
Dated . : . Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-nanved.

2o bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated....... . i : = 78

. There being no sufficient cawse to Lelieve the within named I . :

o be cliscliarg‘eii.

) ;oquilty of" t e offence within meentioned. I order Te

Police J z_osti:ce.




RE‘PORT' OIT- THE NEW YORK SOCIETY FOR
THE PREVENTIO.N OF CRUELTY
TO CHILDREN.
100 EAST 283p STREET,

CASE NOw..tl e 7257 - 2  OFBICER M_‘ _

.DATE OF ARREST.. ... . . RS
CHARGE '

~ AGE OF CHILD.... .
" RELIGION.. ,
FATHER..... . . . . . . . ez = s

MOTHER. . . A s
RESIDENCE...... .. ... . 207 Feo = e
AN INVESTIGATION BY THE SOCIETY SHOWS THAT %
%/d Zzeo R TP =T ALl
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Qﬁnnrt af @meml a%’mﬁmuz of the Beace

T e e A s

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TarE ‘PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORXK,

_ agaznst -

The Grand Jury of the C_ity and County of New York, by- this indictment, accuse

late d_f the _ /%W ard of thg¢ Lity of New York, in the County of New York
: aforesaid, on the . * && 7 ' day in the year of our Lord one

thousa.nd eight hundred’ a.n& — =< _‘¢ ___—, with force and arms, in the

\M tlme of the same da,y, at the , City and County aforesaid, the
dwelling house of one %/‘M .

s s Sl e i e Sl T L e L N e - e

there srtuate felomously and bnrgla.nously dJ.d. break Ainto and enter,, w1th intent: to

commit some(_crime therein, to wit: with inte goods, chattels and personal property
of the said : 7 L - :

in the said dwelling hous en and there beihg, then and

‘there feloniously a.nd burg]anously to steal, take and carry ‘away, against the form of
the Statute in such ca.se made and pronded and against the peace of the People of the
State of. New ¥ork. and their dignity.




.. 'SECOND -COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JUBY AFORESAID, by this indictment further accuse the said

" of the CRIME OF

The said

on _the day and .ii].

—_——

'la,t'e‘ of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, aftérwards, to wit:
the year aforesaid, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the

time of said day, with force and armim W
W

s it

of the goods, chatftéls and personal _rqpertnyf one m

cc .

in the dwelling house of the said

there .situate,- then and there béing found, from the dwelling'house aforesaid, then and there
feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and

provided, and against the peace of the People of -t} State of New York and their dignity.
o e 0,




